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Message from the Director
I am pleased to present the CDFI Fund’s Performance and Accountability Report for
fiscal year 2009. This past year has presented extraordinary challenges for our nation, and
the CDFI Fund has been called upon to play a significant role in helping to revitalize the
economy. As this Report demonstrates, the CDFI Fund has served with distinction in
answering that call.
President Barack Obama views the CDFI Fund as a key part of his strategy to address the
economic challenges within distressed communities, and early this year Congress and the new Administration
took major steps to expand the CDFI Fund’s mission and impact. The first of these was the passage of the
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (Recovery Act) on February 17, 2009, which provided the CDFI
Fund extra funding—$100 million beyond our annual appropriation for fiscal year 2009 and an additional
$3 billion of New Markets Tax Credit allocation authority—to enhance the lending capacity of CDFIs and
investments made by Community Development Entities. Days later, on February 26, President Obama released
his budget for the 2010 fiscal year. The new budget requests an increase in the CDFI Fund’s current budget of
$107 million for 2009 to $243.6 million for 2010—an increase of 127 percent.
At the CDFI Fund, we are mindful of the tremendous responsibility that we have been given, and we have been
committed to moving swiftly to implement the new Administration’s agenda. Just four and a half months after
the enactment of the Recovery Act, we announced financial assistance to 59 CDFIs and to 10 Native CDFIs.
By September 1, 2009, we had disbursed 100 percent of the funds awarded to CDFIs through the Recovery
Act. We also re-opened the 2008 New Markets Tax Credit Program application round to award an additional
$1.5 billion of Recovery Act allocation authority within 100 days of enactment, and closed all of the award
agreements within 30 days of the award announcement. And on October 30, we announced $5 billion in
NMTC awards, including $1.5 billion made possible through the Recovery Act, for more than 90 organizations
in communities around the country.
In addition, under supplemental rounds of our CDFI and Native American CDFI Assistance (NACA) programs,
the CDFI Fund has made financial assistance awards totaling $4.4 million to 10 organizations through the NACA
Program and $52.7 million to 62 organizations through the CDFI Program. We have also made awards totaling
more than $22 million to 55 depository institutions under our Bank Enterprise Award Program.
Awarding funds is just one way that the CDFI Fund has been helping to address the economic crisis. Last fall,
as the crisis deepened, we formed a new Advisory Board Subcommittee to determine the impact of the crisis on
the institutions that the CDFI Fund supports and to offer policy recommendations to increase our support. We
have already implemented several of the Subcommittee’s recommendations, including creating a new Office of
Training and Outreach, and launching a new Capacity-Building Initiative for CDFIs.
I am very proud of the CDFI Fund’s outstanding accomplishments in 2009, and I would like to thank the
exceptional men and women of the CDFI Fund for their hard work and dedication to serving low-income
communities across the nation. Indeed, the CDFI Fund’s employees are its greatest asset. Although the road
to economic recovery may be long, I am certain that our commitment to creating economic opportunity for
all—and our record of accomplishments—will only grow as we meet the challenges that lie ahead.
Donna J. Gambrell

Director, The CDFI Fund
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About the Community Development
Financial Institutions Fund
Overview

The Community Development Financial Institutions (CDFI) Fund was created for the purpose
of promoting economic and community development through investment in and assistance to
community development financial institutions (CDFIs). The CDFI Fund’s role in promoting
community and economic development was expanded in FY 2001 when the Secretary of the
Treasury delegated to the CDFI Fund the responsibility of administering the New Markets
Tax Credit (NMTC) Program. The breadth and depth of the CDFI Fund’s reach were further
expanded in FY 2009 with the enactment of legislation that created the Capital Magnet Fund,
which will be implemented in FY 2010, subject to funding availability.
Since its creation in 1994, the CDFI Fund has awarded $1.13 billion to CDFIs, community
development organizations, and financial institutions through the CDFI Program, the Bank
Enterprise Award (BEA) Program, and the Native Initiatives. In addition, the CDFI Fund has
allocated $26 billion in tax credit authority to Community Development Entities (CDEs) through
the NMTC Program.

Authorizing Legislation

The CDFI Fund was established as a bipartisan initiative under the Riegle Community
Development and Regulatory Improvement Act of 1994. The NMTC Program was authorized
through the Community Renewal Tax Relief Act of 2000 and reauthorized as part of the Tax
Relief and Health Care Act of 2006.

Vision and Mission

The CDFI Fund’s vision is an America in which all people have access to affordable credit, capital,
and financial services. Its mission is to expand the capacity of financial institutions to provide
credit, capital, and financial services to underserved populations and economically distressed
communities in the United States. The CDFI Fund achieves its purpose by promoting access to
capital and local economic growth through:
1.

the CDFI Program, by making funding available to financial institutions that are
certified or eligible to be certified as CDFIs, which in turn provide loans, investments,
financial services, and technical assistance to underserved populations and low-income
communities;

2.

the NMTC Program, which provides tax allocation authority to CDEs, enabling investors
in these CDEs to claim tax credits against their federal income taxes. CDEs, in return, use
the capital raised to make investments in low-income communities;

3.

the BEA Program, which provides monetary awards to banks for increasing their
investment in low-income communities and/or in CDFIs;
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4.

the Native Initiatives, which provide financial assistance, technical assistance, and training
to Native CDFIs and other Native entities proposing to become or to create Native CDFIs;
and

5.

the Financial Education and Counseling Program, through which the CDFI Fund shall
provide grants to eligible organizations to enable them to provide a range of financial
education and counseling services to prospective homebuyers.

What is a CDFI?

Generally, CDFIs are community-based specialized financial institutions that serve low-income
people or work in economically distressed communities, often working in market niches that
may be underserved by traditional financial institutions. Only financial institutions certified as
CDFIs by the CDFI Fund can receive financial assistance awards through the CDFI Program and
the Native American CDFI Assistance (NACA) Program. Both certified CDFIs and entities that
propose to become certified are eligible to receive technical assistance awards through the CDFI
Program and the NACA Program.
CDFIs provide a unique and wide range of financial products and services that help their
customers build wealth and achieve the goal of participating in the ownership society. While the
types of products offered—such as mortgage loans for low-income and first-time homebuyers,
small business loans, and community facilities loans—are generally similar to those provided
by larger mainstream financial institutions, CDFIs often lend to and make equity investments
in markets that may not be served by regulated financial institutions. CDFIs may offer rates and
terms that are more flexible than those provided by traditional financial institutions. CDFIs also
provide services that help ensure that credit is used effectively, such as technical assistance to
small businesses and homebuyer education and credit counseling for consumers. CDFIs include
both regulated institutions, such as community development banks and credit unions, and nonregulated institutions, such as loan funds and venture capital funds.

Certification of CDFIs and CDEs

CDFI certification is a designation conferred by the CDFI Fund. An organization must be a legal
entity and meet the following six statutory and regulatory criteria:
1.

Have a primary mission of promoting community development;

2.

Serve principally an investment area or targeted population;

3.

Be an insured depository institution, or make loans or development investments as its
predominant business activity;

4.

Provide development services (such as technical assistance or counseling) in conjunction
with its financing activity;

5.

Maintain accountability to its target market; and

6.

Be a non-governmental entity and not be controlled by any governmental entities.

CDFI certification is a requirement for a CDFI to access a financial assistance award from the
CDFI Fund through the CDFI Program and the NACA Program, and to receive certain benefits
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through the BEA Program. The term of CDFI certification is three years, after which a CDFI
must apply for recertification in order to maintain its initial certification. As of September 30,
2009, there were 798 certified CDFIs. During FY 2009, 55 CDFIs were newly certified, 14 more
than were certified in the prior year, which represents a 34 percent increase. Nevertheless, the
overall number of certified CDFIs declined by 1.2 percent in 2009 due to increased mergers and
acquisitions—particularly among banks, thrifts, bank holding companies, and credit unions—
and attrition in the certification status of other institutions.
A Community Development Entity (CDE) is a domestic corporation or partnership that is an
intermediary vehicle through which loans, investments, or financial counseling are provided
to low-income communities through the NMTC Program. CDEs must demonstrate a primary
mission of serving low-income communities and low-income people, and must demonstrate
that they are accountable (through representation on a governing board or advisory board) to
residents of low-income communities. CDEs are certified as such by the CDFI Fund and are
eligible to apply for the allocation of tax credit authority through the NMTC Program.
Many CDEs create multiple subsidiary CDEs to own specific assets or classes of assets, and thus
the number of CDEs grew to 3,938 as of September 30, 2009. The benefits of CDE certification
include being able: 1) to apply to the CDFI Fund to receive an allocation of NMTC authority
to offer to investors in exchange for equity investments in the CDE and/or its subsidiaries; or 2)
to receive loans or investments from other CDEs that have received a NMTC allocation. CDEs
must be certified in order to receive allocations of tax credit authority. The table below shows the
totals of certified CDFIs and CDEs through FY 2009.
Annual Number of Certified
CDFIs and CDEs
End of FY

CDFIs

CDEs

1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009

190
262
334
415
468
625
694
728
752
762
778
808
798

31
541
1,184
1,585
1,954
2,294
2,680
3,434
3,938

CDEs are headquartered in 49 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands. CDFIs are
headquartered in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, Guam, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands.
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CDFI Fund Programs

Community Development Financial Institutions Program
Performance Goal: To build the capacity and coverage of CDFIs to provide credit, capital, and
related services to underserved markets.
Through the CDFI Program, the CDFI Fund provides financial assistance awards and technical
assistance awards.
•

Financial assistance (FA) awards are made in the form of grants, loans, and equity
investments. They are given to CDFIs that have comprehensive business plans for creating
community development impact and that demonstrate the ability to leverage private sector
sources of capital.

•

Technical assistance (TA) awards are given to CDFIs and entities proposing to become
CDFIs in order to build their capacity to advance community development and to meet
capital access needs in their target markets. TA awards can also be accessed by larger and
more established CDFIs to support their continued development.

New Markets Tax Credit Program
Performance Goal: To attract private sector capital into low-income communities through CDEs.
The NMTC Program spurs the investment of new private sector capital into low-income areas
through CDEs, which in turn use privately managed investment vehicles to make loans and
equity investments in businesses and real estate projects in low-income communities.
By making an equity investment in a CDE, individual and corporate investors can receive a tax
credit against their federal income taxes worth 39 percent of the value of the amount invested in
the CDE over 7 years.
The NMTC Program was authorized under the Community Renewal Tax Relief Act of 2000,
which included $15 billion in allocation authority for seven years. Under the Hurricane Katrina
Gulf Opportunity (GO) Zone Act of 2005, an additional $1 billion in allocation authority was
directed to the rebuilding and renewal of the GO Zone. The NMTC Program was reauthorized
for one year, through the end of 2008, as part of H.R. 6111 the Tax Relief and Health Care Act of
2006. A further provision allowed for an additional $3.5 billion in tax allocation authority under
the program through 2009. Included in this provision was a requirement that Treasury prescribe
regulations to ensure that non-metropolitan (rural) counties receive a proportional allocation of
Qualified Equity Investments (QEIs).
Calendar Year 2002 was the first year in which applications for NMTC authority were submitted
to the CDFI Fund. As of October 30, 2009, seven allocation rounds have been completed,
providing allocations of tax credit authority that will support, in the aggregate, equity
investments of $26 billion, including the $3 billion in allocation authority authorized under the
American Reinvestment and Recovery Act (Recovery Act).
Bank Enterprise Award Program
Performance Goal: To increase FDIC-insured institutions’ investments in community
development and economic revitalization in distressed communities.
The BEA Program recognizes the key role played by traditional financial institutions in
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community development lending and investing. Through the BEA Program, the CDFI Fund
provides monetary awards to regulated banks and thrifts for increasing their investments and
financial activities in economically distressed communities (i.e., those with high poverty and
unemployment) and/or their investments in CDFIs. The size of the award is a percentage of the
increase in activities from one annual reporting period to the next.
Native Initiatives
Performance Goal: To build the capacity and coverage of CDFIs and other institutions to provide
credit, capital, and related services to Native Communities.
The CDFI Fund’s Native Initiatives are intended to assist entities in overcoming barriers that
prevent access to credit, capital, and financial services in Native American, Alaskan Native, and
Native Hawaiian communities. The Native Initiatives’ central component is the Native American
CDFI Assistance (NACA) Program, which aims to increase the number and capacity of existing
or new CDFIs serving Native Communities. In addition, the Native Initiatives provide training
to help strengthen and develop Native CDFIs.
Financial Education and Counseling Program
Performance Goal: To provide grants to eligible organizations to enable them to provide a range
of financial education and counseling services to prospective homebuyers.
The ultimate purpose of the FEC Program is to identify successful methods resulting in
positive behavioral change for financial empowerment, and to establish program models for
organizations to carry out effective financial education and counseling services to prospective
homebuyers.
Performance Measures
This Performance and Accountability Report includes a discussion of the performance
measures the CDFI Fund considers the most significant. For a discussion of all of the CDFI
Fund’s performance measures, see the applicable appendix in the FY 2009 Performance and
Accountability Report for the Department of the Treasury.

Allocation of Funding

The CDFI Fund’s appropriations comprise program funds and administrative funds. Program
funds are amounts that are used for program awards (such as grants, loans, equity investments,
and training contracts); administrative funds are amounts used to cover the costs to administer
all programs, including the NMTC Program. As noted above, the Secretary has delegated
authority to the CDFI Fund to allocate tax credit authority through the NMTC Program. As
NMTC tax credits are not monetary awards, they are not reflected in the chart below. NMTC
Program funding (as shown in the chart) represents program administration costs.

Sources of Funding

Congress appropriates funding annually to the CDFI Fund; each appropriation can be used over
two fiscal years. Appropriations include fiscal year budget authority, and any unobligated funds
from the prior year may be carried over. The annual appropriation amount includes borrowing
authority to make loans.
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In FY 2009, the CDFI Fund used funding of $109.4 million as follows:
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Amounts Funded in FY 2009
(amounts in millions)

New Markets
Tax Credits,
$4.2

Financial
Education, $2.0

Administrative
Costs, $1 2.9

Native
5
Initiatives, $8.5

BEA Program,
$22.0

CDFI Progra
Program,
$59.8
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Organization of the CDFI Fund

The CDFI Fund’s organizational structure consists of the following offices:
•

Director

•

Chief Operating Officer

•

Legislative and External Affairs Manager

•

Legal Counsel

•

CDFI and Native Program Manager

•

NMTC and BEA Program Manager

•

Certification, Compliance Monitoring and Evaluation Manager

•

Financial Strategies and Research Manager

•

Training and Outreach Manager

•
•

Supervisory IT Specialist
A variety of program and administrative support offices.

The organization chart of the CDFI Fund is shown below.

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS FUND
ORGANIZATION CHART
SEPTEMBER 2009

Director

Legal Counsel

Legislative & External
Affairs Manager
Chief Operating Officer

Training & Outreach
Manager
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Financial Strategies
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Program Manager
( CDFI & Native )

Program Manager
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Program Discussion and Analysis
Community Development Financial Institutions Program

Through the Community Development Financial Institutions (CDFI) Program, the CDFI Fund
uses federal resources to invest in and build the capacity of CDFIs to serve low-income people
and communities lacking adequate access to affordable financial products and services. Through
the CDFI Program, the CDFI Fund provides monetary awards for Financial Assistance (FA) and
Technical Assistance (TA). CDFIs use FA awards to further goals such as:
•

Economic development, including job creation, business development, and commercial real
estate development;

•

Affordable housing development and homeownership; and

•

Expanded access to financial services, including the provision of basic banking services to
underserved communities and financial literacy training.

Certified CDFIs
A certified CDFI is one that has been certified by the CDFI Fund as meeting all of the following
statutory and regulatory criteria:
1.

Has a primary mission of promoting community development;

2.

Serves principally an investment area or targeted population;

3.

Is an insured depository institution or makes loans or development investments as its
predominant business activity;

4.

Provides development services (such as technical assistance or counseling) in conjunction
with its financing activity;

5.

Maintains accountability to its target market; and

6.

Is a non-governmental entity and cannot be controlled by any governmental entities.

In addition to seeking certification to receive financial assistance and technical assistance from
the CDFI Fund, organizations pursue CDFI certification in order to leverage CDFI Funds from
non-federal sources such as banks, foundations, and state and local governments.
The certification of organizations as CDFIs has been a long-standing goal of the CDFI Fund. By
the end of FY 2009, the CDFI Fund certified 798 CDFIs serving rural and urban areas in all states
and the District of Columbia, Guam, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands.
Types of Certified CDFIs
Twenty-eight percent of certified CDFIs are headquartered in the five most populous states (New
York, Texas, North Carolina, Florida, and California).
CDFIs include banks, credit unions, loan funds, and venture capital funds, with each providing a
different mix of products geared to reach specific customers, as follows:
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•

Community development banks are for-profit corporations that provide capital to rebuild
economically distressed communities through targeted lending and investment;

•

Community development credit unions are member-owned non-profit cooperatives that
promote ownership of assets and savings, and provide affordable credit and retail financial
services to low-income people;

•

Community development loan funds (usually non-profits) provide financing and
development services to businesses, organizations, and individuals in low-income urban
and rural areas, and can be further categorized based on the type of client served: microenterprise, small business, housing, and community service organizations; and

•

Community development venture capital funds include both for-profit and non-profit
organizations that provide equity and debt-with-equity features for businesses in distressed
communities.

CDFI Customers
CDFI customers include (among others):
•

Small business owners who provide employment opportunities and needed services to
disadvantaged communities;

•

Affordable housing developers who construct and rehabilitate homes in low-income
communities;

•

Community facilities used to provide child care, health care, education and social services
in underserved communities;

•

Commercial real estate developers who finance the acquisition, construction, or
rehabilitation of retail, office, industrial, and community facility space in low-income
communities; and

•

Individuals who are provided affordable banking services, including checking and savings
accounts, alternatives to predatory financial companies, and mortgages and other kinds of loans.

Financial Assistance Awards
The CDFI Program consists of two components, Financial Assistance (FA) and Technical
Assistance (TA). FA is by far the most subscribed and consists of two categories:
•

Category 1 – Small and Emerging CDFI Assistance (SECA); and

•

Category 2 – Core.

Through the CDFI Program, the CDFI Fund invests in CDFIs that provide financing and related
services to communities and populations lacking access to credit, capital, and financial services.
Applicants applying to the CDFI Fund must demonstrate they have the financial and managerial
capacity to impact the communities they serve. Applicants must be able to: 1) provide affordable
and appropriate financial products and services; 2) be a viable financial institution; 3) be able
to use CDFI Fund awards effectively; and 4) have the ability to leverage their awards with nonfederal funding.
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The CDFI Program makes FA awards in the form of equity investments, loans, deposits, or
grants, depending on the type of non-federal matching funds the applicant brings to the
initiative. FA awards enable CDFIs to leverage private capital for affordable financial products
and services in economically distressed markets. CDFIs respond to this demand by providing
loans, investments, training, technical assistance, and basic financial services such as checking or
savings accounts.
FY 2009 FA Awards
In FY 2009, the CDFI Fund conducted two FA funding rounds—one using funds allocated
through the Recovery Act (the initial funding round) and one using funds through the FY 2009
appropriation (the supplemental funding round).
Applicants that did not receive awards in the initial funding round were considered for
supplemental funding round awards, along with the applicants that specifically submitted
supplemental funding round applications. (Details on Recovery Act awards can be found in a
separate section of the PAR.) Supplemental funding round awards were announced in early
October 2009.
In the supplemental funding round, the CDFI Fund received 194 applications and considered
123 unfunded applicants from the initial funding round. Therefore, a total of 317 applicants were
considered for the supplemental funding round, in total requesting an estimated $532 million.
Of the 317 supplemental round applicants, 100 were in the SECA category, with 38 unfunded
applicants from the initial funding round and 62 from the supplemental funding round. SECA
applicants requested approximately $63 million. In the supplemental funding round, the CDFI
Fund considered 217 Core applicants, with 85 unfunded applicants from the initial funding
round and 132 that specifically applied for supplemental funding round awards. In combination,
Core applicants requested a total of $443 million.
Table 1 – FY 2009 FA Awards

Core
SECA
Totals

Initial Round
Awards
Amount Awarded
40
$79,050,000
19
$10,950,000
59
$90,000,000

Supplemental Round
Awards
Amount Awarded
46
$44,910,000
16
$7,805,000
$52,715,000
62

As Table I shows, the CDFI Fund made more than $52.7 million in awards to 62 organizations in
the supplemental funding round. Sixteen SECA applicants were awarded a total of $7.8 million;
46 Core applicants received a total of $45 million. All awards were for FA only.
The following graph shows the total amount of FA funds requested and awarded since FY
2004. The CDFI Program has consistently received more applications than it can fund. In FY
2009, it received almost twice as much funding than it had in FY 2007, but it also received more
applications requesting more dollars. The CDFI Fund capped awards at $1 million, as in past
years, in an attempt to meet the heavy demand. By capping award amounts, the CDFI Fund is
able to make more awards.
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CDFI Financial Assistance: Amounts
Requested and Awarded
(amounts in millions)
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Fiscal Year
Amount Awarded

Amount Requested

Technical Assistance Awards
Through the Technical Assistance component of the CDFI Program, the CDFI Fund provides
grants to build the capacity of both start-up and existing CDFIs. TA grant funds can be used for
items such as staff salaries, benefits, staff training, professional services, supplies, and equipment.
Applicants often request funds to analyze their target markets, to develop lending policies and
procedures, or to build staff lending capacity.
More established CDFIs also use TA grants to build their capacity to provide new products, to
serve current target markets in new ways, or to enhance the efficiency of their operations with
upgraded computer hardware and software.
FY 2009 TA Awards
In FY 2009, the CDFI Fund received 79 applications requesting more than $7.4 million in TA
grants. Twenty-seven organizations received awards totaling approximately $2.4 million. The
following graph shows the annual amount of TA awards each year since 2002.
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(amounts in millions)
$6

$4.9

$5
$4
$3
$2
$1

$2.1 $1.9
$0.8

$1.5

$2.0

$2.4

$0.3

$0

02 00 3 0 04 0 05 006 00 7 0 08 0 09
2
2
2
2
20
2
2
2
Fiscal Year
Recovery Act 2009: FA Awards
In February 2009, the CDFI Program received $90 million in funds through the Recovery Act.
In order to disburse the funding as quickly and efficiently as possible into the national economy,
the CDFI Fund used the Recovery Act funding for awards made through the initial funding
round.
Applicants that did not receive an award in the initial funding round were also considered for an
award during the supplemental funding round (using FY 2009 appropriated dollars), as described
above. The Recovery Act waived the matching funds requirement, as well as the $5 million limit
on awards that an awardee can receive in a three-year period.
In the initial funding round (using Recovery Act dollars), the CDFI Program considered 125
applicants requesting a total of $229.7 million. Fifty-nine awards were made totaling $90 million,
with individual awards ranging from $500,000 to $2 million. (Please see Table 1 for details.)
Awards were announced on June 29, 2009, and funds were fully disbursed within 60 days. All
Recovery Act awards under the CDFI Program were for FA only.
CDFI Program Performance
CDFI Program awardees report their annual performance to the CDFI Fund through the CDFI Fund’s
Web-based reporting system, the Community Investment Impact System (CIIS). Each awardee has
180 days from its fiscal year end to report through CIIS. This allows the awardee to complete its
annual audit and enables the CDFI Fund to verify reported information against the audit.
The FY2009 performance information provided here pertains to each awardee’s performance
results for program year 2008. It should also be noted that the lag in performance reporting
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reflects the time it takes to deploy funds and make investments for which actual and projected
results can be estimated. In practice, the lag reflects the time it takes to disburse an award after
it is announced, the time it takes for an awardee to deploy the funds, and the additional time
it takes to compute and report awardee impact information to the CDFI Fund’s CIIS reporting
system. The performance results for program year 2008 are summarized in the following table
and are based on information entered into CIIS by reporting CDFI Program awardees.

Performance of CDFI Program
Awardees During FY 2009 *

1. # of Full Time Jobs Created or Maintained (77)**

70,260

2. # of Businesses Financed (104)**

10,792

3. # of Commercial Real Estate Properties
Financed (55) **

1,676

4. # of Affordable Housing Units Financed (22)**

2,133

5. # of Homebuyers Who Obtain Financing (50) **

1,998

6. # of Accounts Opened to the Unbanked (11)**

4,235

7. Dollars, in millions, Leveraged with Private
Investments**
8. # of Individuals Provided with Financial
Literacy and Other Training (126)**

$1,298
159,546

9. Individual Development Accounts (IDAs)
Provided by CDFIs (53)**

6,478

10. Dollar amount, in millions, of IDAs (54)**

$5.86

* FY2009 PAR data based on program activities reported in 2008.
** Numbers in parentheses are the number of CDFI Program awardees reporting on this particular measure.
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New Markets Tax Credit Program

The NMTC Program permits taxpayers to receive a credit against federal income taxes for
making Qualified Equity Investments (QEIs) in designated Community Development Entities
(CDEs). Substantially all of the qualified equity investment must in turn be used by the CDE to
provide investments in low-income communities.
The credit provided to the investor totals 39 percent of the cost of the investment and is claimed
over a seven-year credit allowance period. In each of the first three years, the investor receives
a credit equal to five percent of the total amount paid for the stock or capital interest at the time
of purchase. For the final four years, the value of the credit is six percent annually. Investors may
not redeem their investments in CDEs prior to the conclusion of the seven-year period.
To qualify as a CDE, an entity must be a domestic corporation or partnership that: 1) has a
mission of serving, or providing investment capital for low-income communities or low-income
persons; 2) maintains accountability to residents of low-income communities through their
representation on a governing board of, or advisory board to the entity; and 3) has been certified
as a CDE by the CDFI Fund. As of September 30, 2009, 3,938 organizations were certified as
CDEs by the CDFI Fund, compared to 3,434 as of September 30, 2008.
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Results of First Seven NMTC Allocation Rounds
Since the inception of the NMTC Program, the CDFI Fund has been authorized to allocate
to CDEs the authority to issue to their investors a total of $26 billion in equity against which
NMTCs can be claimed, including $3 billion of special allocation authority made available under
the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009.
Allocations are awarded annually through a competitive process. To date, the CDFI Fund has
completed seven allocation rounds and has made 495 awards totaling $26 billion in allocation
authority. This amount includes the $3 billion of Recovery Act-authorized allocations ($1.5
billion through the 2008 NMTC allocation round and $1.5 billion through the 2009 NMTC
allocation round).

Applications
R ou n d
1
2
3
4
5
6
7

Amount

Nu m b er (B i l l i o n s )
345
271
208
254
258
239
249
1 ,8 2 4

$ 2 5 .8
$ 3 0 .4
$ 2 2 .9
$ 2 8 .3
$ 2 7 .9
$ 2 1 .3
$ 2 2 .5
$ 1 7 9 .1

Allocations
Amount

Nu m b er

(Billi o ns)

66
63
41
63
61
102
99
495

$ 2 .5
$ 3 .5
$ 2 .0
$ 4 .1
$ 3 .9
$ 5 .0
$ 5 .0
$ 2 6 .0

Demand for the tax credits has been high since program inception, as 1,824 applicants have
requested credits supporting in total over $179 billion in equity investments—approximately
seven times the amount of allocation authority available for distribution by the CDFI Fund.
Through the first seven allocation rounds, only 27 percent of applicants were selected to
receive an award. The average tax credit allocation award through the first seven rounds was
approximately $52.5 million.
2009 NMTC Allocation Round
In October 2009, the CDFI Fund announced that 99 applicants were awarded $5 billion in
NMTC allocation authority, including $1.5 billion in Recovery Act-authorized allocation
authority. The 99 applicants selected to receive awards are headquartered in 30 different states,
the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico, and they anticipate making awards in 49 different
states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico.
In the 2009 allocation round, the CDFI Fund implemented a statutory requirement to ensure
that non-metropolitan (i.e., rural) counties receive a proportional allocation of Qualified
Equity Investments (QEIs). The CDFI Fund sought to ensure: 1) that the number of “Rural
CDEs” (i.e., CDEs that focus at least 50 percent of their activities in non-metropolitan areas)
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were proportionately represented in the awardee pool; and 2) that at least 20 percent of the
total NMTC dollars would be invested in non-metropolitan areas. As a result, seven of the
99 allocatees are rural CDEs; and the 99 allocatees will collectively invest a minimum of
approximately $965 million dollars in non-metropolitan communities.
These 99 allocatees have committed to achieving results above and beyond minimal program
requirements:
•

Ninety-six of the 99 indicated that 100 percent of their investment dollars will be made
either in the form of equity, equity equivalent financing, or debt that is at least 50 percent
below market and/or is characterized by at least five concessionary features. The remaining
three allocatees have committed to providing debt that is at least 33 percent below market
and/or characterized by at least three concessionary features. Such features include, among
other things: subordinated debt, reduced origination fees, higher than standard loan-tovalue ratios, lower than standard debt service coverage ratios, non-traditional collateral,
and longer than standard amortization periods.

•

Ninety-five of the allocatees indicated that at least 90 percent of their activities will be
provided in areas of higher economic distress (and/or areas targeted for development by
other government programs) than are minimally required under NMTC Program rules.
Ninety-one of these 95 indicated that 100 percent of their activities will be provided in such
areas.

•

All 99 of the allocatees indicated that they will invest more than the minimally required 85
percent of QEI dollars into Qualified Low-Income Community Investments (QLICI), and
96 of the 99 allocatees indicated that at least 95 percent of their QEI dollars will be invested
into qualified low-income community investments. In real dollars, this means that at least
$630 million above and beyond what is minimally required by the NMTC Program rules
will be invested in low-income communities.

NMTC Activities to Date
Allocation agreements have been executed with each of the 396 allocatees from the first six
rounds. As of September 30, 2009, allocatees had reported raising QEIs totaling over $14.3
billion. This figure represents over 73.3 percent of the $19.5 billion in allocation authority issued
to CDEs through calendar year 2008.
Allocatees report QEI and QLICI activity to the CDFI Fund through the Community Investment
Impact System (CIIS). Allocatees that have raised QEIs are required to complete an annual
Institution Level Report (ILR) in CIIS. Allocatees that have made QLICIs are also required to
submit an annual Transaction Level Report (TLR) in CIIS. An allocatee’s ILR, TLR, and audited
financial statements are due 180 days after the end of its fiscal year.
All results in this section represent the allocatees’ data reported for 2008. As shown in the table
below, allocatees reported making $2.89 billion of loans and investments in Qualified Active
Low Income Community Businesses (QALICBs) in FY 2008, and a total of $11.86 billion of
loans and investments in QALICBs since the program’s inception. In FY 2008, 59 percent of the
dollars invested were invested in “real estate QALICBs” (i.e., businesses that develop or lease real
property for use by others).
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The remaining 41 percent of the dollars were invested in “non-real estate QALICBs” (i.e.,
operating businesses) in low-income communities. The allocatees reported that 98.9 percent of
the loans and investments they provided in FY 2008 had better rates and terms than could be
offered in the prevailing market. Finally, in FY 2008, allocatees also reported making over $259
million in direct investments into other CDEs, purchasing $128.2 million in loans from other
CDEs, and providing financial counseling and other services to 5,493 businesses in low-income
communities.
Performance of NMTC Allocatees
Type of QLICI

FY 2009 Performance

FY 2003 - FY 2009
Cumulative Performance*

QALICB: Real Estate
Loans and investments
supporting real estate
development and rehabilitation
in low-income communities.
QALICB: Non-Real Estate
Loans and investments
supporting businesses
operating in low-income
communities.
CDE
Loans and investment in other
CDEs.

$1.694 billion

$7.702 billion

417 loans/investments

1,695 loans/investments

$1.195 billion

$4.162 billion

415 loans/investments

1,638 loans/investments

$259.0 million

$535.5 million

77 loans/investments

167 loans/investments

$128.2 million

$282.5 million

10.9 million

23.9 million

5,493 businesses served

14,886 businesses served

Loan Purchases
Purchase of loans from CDEs.
FCOS
Investment in Financial
Counseling and Other Services
(FCOS).
Number of businesses
receiving FCOS.

* Cumulative performance is based on data available as of September 14, 2009. Each year, allocatees
are permitted to update data reported in previous fiscal years to correct errors or to provide newly
available information. As a result, the cumulative figures may not exactly add up to the FY03 thru
FY08 annual performance figures reported by the CDFI Fund in this and previous Performance
and Accountability Reports. Please note that data for square footage of commercial real estate
projected to be developed and rehabilitated, the number of full-time equivalent (FTE) construction
jobs projected to be created or maintained, and the number of full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs
projected to be created or maintained will not be reported in the PAR 2009 because, at the time
of publication, the CDFI Fund staff was revalidating the methodology for computing these
performance data, in consultation with GAO.
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Bank Enterprise Award Program

Through the BEA Program, the CDFI Fund recognizes the key role played by insured depository
institutions in community development lending and investing. The program provides incentives
for regulated banks and thrifts to invest in CDFIs and to increase their lending and financial
services in economically distressed communities. Providing monetary awards for community
reinvestment leverages the CDFI Fund’s dollars and puts more capital to work in distressed
communities throughout the nation. The BEA Program is highly targeted to areas with larger
populations. In general, approximately 4,000 Census Tracts qualify as distressed communities
under the program.
BEA Program awards are based on the increase in the amount of Qualified Activities from a
Baseline Period to a later Assessment Period (the corresponding time in the following year).
Qualified Activities consist of financial assistance provided to certified CDFIs, loans made by
financial institutions in distressed communities (e.g., affordable housing loans, small business
loans, real estate development loans), and financial services provided in distressed communities
(such as access to automated teller machines and opening of savings accounts).
Promoting CDFI Investments through the BEA Program
The BEA Program has a dual purpose. The first priority is to increase banks’ financial support
of CDFIs in order to build CDFI self-sufficiency and capacity (referred to as CDFI-Related
Activities). The second priority is to build the capacity of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(FDIC) insured depository institutions to expand their community development lending and
investments in severely underserved areas (referred to as the Distressed Community Financing
Activities and Service Activities).
The CDFI Fund awards applicants in the CDFI-Related priority before making awards to
applicants in the Financing Activities priority and Service Activities priority.
The prospect of a BEA Program award encourages banks to achieve this first priority by
providing low-cost capital and operating support to CDFIs, which has helped to create and
sustain a network of CDFIs. CDFIs serve as conduits with which banks can partner to better
serve highly distressed neighborhoods.
Eligibility
All FDIC-insured depository institutions are eligible to apply for a BEA Program award. The
BEA Program rewards actual increases in the dollar volume of Qualified Activities from a
Baseline Period to a later Assessment Period. Qualified Activities for the BEA Program are
divided into three priority areas:
1.

CDFI-Related Activities: Equity investments (grants, stock purchases, purchases of
partnership interests or limited liability company membership interests), equity-like loans,
and CDFI support (loans, deposits or technical assistance) to certified CDFIs (referred to as
CDFI Partners).

2.

Distressed Community Financing Activities: Loans or investments for affordable
home mortgages, affordable housing development, education, home improvement, small
business development, and commercial real estate development in economically distressed
communities.
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3.

Service Activities:  Deposits, financial services (such as check-cashing, money orders, or
certified checks), Electronic Transfer Accounts, Individual Development Accounts, or
community services provided to low- to moderate-income individuals or the institutions
serving them.

FY 2009 BEA Program Awards
For FY 2009, the CDFI Fund received 58 eligible applications requesting a total of more than $57
million, compared to 60 applications requesting a total of approximately $49 million in FY 2008.
The CDFI Fund selected 55 FDIC-insured institutions to receive approximately $22 million in
awards. The FY 2009 applicants are headquartered in 24 states and the District of Columbia,
compared to the 19 states and the District of Columbia represented in the prior year.
FY 2009 applicants provided $310.6 million in qualified loans or investments in distressed
communities, $173.7 million in qualified loans, deposits, and technical assistance to CDFIs, and
$53.2 million in qualified financial services in distressed communities.
FY 2009 Community Impact
FY 2009 BEA Program awardees increased their qualified community development activities by
$292.3 million over the prior year, which included:
•

An increase of $214.2 million in loans and investments in distressed communities;

•

An increase of $74.6 million in loans, deposits, and technical assistance to CDFIs; and

•

An increase of $3.5 million in the provision of financial services in distressed communities.

The trend of investments in distressed communities and investments in CDFIs by BEA awardees
is shown in the following graph.
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Distribution of BEA Program Awards By Category
(amounts in millions)
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Distressed Community Financing Services

Native Initiatives

In November 2001, the CDFI Fund published the Report on the Native American Lending Study,
which formed and still forms the basis of the Native Initiatives. The study evaluated access to
credit, capital, and financial services in Native American, Alaskan Native, and Native Hawaiian
communities and identified the barriers to access. To address these barriers, the Native
Initiatives seek to increase opportunities to access credit, capital, and financial services by helping
to create Native CDFIs to serve Native Communities as well as by strengthening the operational
capacities of existing Native CDFIs.



The Native Initiatives are based on six objectives:
1.

To expand training opportunities in community development finance for Native
Communities;

2.

To provide technical assistance to overcome barriers to creating and sustaining Native
CDFIs;

3.

To make technical and financial assistance awards to meet the needs of existing or
proposed Native CDFIs;

4.

To encourage mainstream financial institutions to increase their financial products and
services in Native Communities;
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5.

To support financial education activities in Native Communities; and

6.

To facilitate networking and in-depth training forums in community development finance.

These objectives are achieved through two principle strategies. The first strategy is to provide
funding through the Native American CDFI Assistance (NACA) Program, which increases the
number and capacity of existing or new Native CDFIs. The second strategy is to provide training
to help create new Native CDFIs or to strengthen the operational capacity of existing ones.
NACA Program FY 2009
The NACA Program helps emerging and existing Native CDFIs build their capacity to address
the community development and capital needs of Native Communities. The program provides
FA awards and TA grants to Native CDFIs.
FY 2009 NACA FA Awards
In FY 2009, the CDFI Fund conducted two funding rounds for the NACA Program, one using
Recovery Act funds (the initial funding round) and one using annual appropriated funds (the
supplemental funding round).
Applicants that did not receive initial funding round awards were considered for supplemental
funding round awards, along with the applicants that specifically submitted initial funding
round applications. (Details on the Recovery Act awards can be found in a separate section of the
PAR.) Supplemental funding round awards were announced on September 28, 2009.
During FY 2009, the CDFI Fund received and considered 17 applications for supplemental
funding round awards. NACA applicants requested a total of $9.8 million and the CDFI Fund
made 10 FA/TA awards to NACA applicants for a total of $4.5 million.
FY 2009 NACA TA Awards
TA grants help awardees build their capacity to provide financial services and products.
Awardees can use TA grants: 1) to acquire products or services such as technology or staff and
board training; 2) to engage consulting services to undertake activities such as a market analysis
or development of lending policies and procedures; 3) to pay for staff time to conduct capacitybuilding activities such as website development; and 4) to support on-going operational activities
such as staff salary, rent, and utilities.
TA-only applications were due to the CDFI Fund on December 17, 2008. During FY 2009, the
CDFI Fund received 32 applications for TA-only, requesting a total of approximately $4.6 million.
The CDFI Fund awarded approximately $3.3 million to 27 TA-only awardees.
NACA and Recovery Act Funding
In February 2009, the CDFI Fund received $8 million in Appropriations under the Recovery Act
for the NACA Program. In order to disburse the funding as quickly and efficiently as possible
into the national economy, Recovery Act funding was used for awards made through the initial
funding round.
The Recovery Act waived the matching funds requirement as well as the $5 million limit an
awardee can receive in a 3-year period.
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During FY 2009, the NACA Program considered 10 applicants requesting $8 million for
Recovery Act funding. Awards were made to all the awardees for $8 million with awards capped
at $730,000. Awards were made for FA as well as TA. Awards were announced on July 1 and fully
disbursed within 60 days.
Training Initiatives
Under the Native Initiatives, the CDFI Fund engages contractors to provide training and
technical assistance to existing and emerging Native CDFIs. The Expanding Native
Opportunities component involves three types of training: 1) Native Communities
Financing Initiatives; 2); Native Financial Skills and Enterprise Initiatives; and 3) Native
Individual Development Account Initiative. The Native Communities Financing Initiatives
are accompanied by technical assistance, allowing up to six days of on-site assistance to
participants.
The CDFI Fund has contracted with two organizations to provide a series of workshops and
technical assistance to participants in the three training initiatives.

Financial Education and Counseling Program

In FY 2009, the CDFI Fund was appropriated $2 million to administer a Financial Education
and Counseling (FEC) Program. Through the FEC Pilot Program, the CDFI Fund may provide
grants to eligible organizations (including CDFIs) to enable them to provide a range of financial
education and counseling services to prospective homebuyers. These services have several goals:
1. T
 o increase the financial knowledge and decision-making capabilities of prospective
homebuyers;
2. T
 o help prospective homebuyers develop monthly budgets, build personal savings, finance or
plan major purchases, reduce debt, improve financial stability, and set and reach financial goals;
3. T
 o help prospective homebuyers improve credit scores by understanding the relationship
between credit histories and credit scores; and
4. T
 o educate prospective homebuyers about the options available to build savings for short- and
long-term goals.
The purpose of the FEC Pilot Program is to identify successful methods resulting in positive
behavioral change for financial empowerment, and to establish effective program models for
organizations to use in implementing their own financial education and counseling services for
prospective homebuyers. The CDFI Fund may make up to five awards of $400,000 each. The
CDFI Fund released the Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) for this program on October 13,
2009, and intends to make award determinations in the second quarter of FY 2010.
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Status of Financial Management
(Unaudited)
This section includes the assurance statement required under the Federal Managers’ Financial
Integrity Act, a summary of the results of the FY 2009 financial statement audit, a summary of
the financial management initiatives of the CDFI Fund during FY 2009, and a discussion of the
CDFI Fund’s financial position and results of operations during the past fiscal year.

Management Assurances

FY 2009 Statement of Assurance of Achievement of Management Control Objectives
The Community Development Financial Institutions (CDFI) Fund is responsible for establishing
and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and has made a conscientious
effort in FY 2009 to meet the internal control requirements of the Federal Manager’s Financial
Integrity Act (FMFIA), the Federal Financial Management Improvement Act (FFMIA), Office
of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-123, and the Reports Consolidation Act of 2000.
The units under my purview are operating in accordance with the procedures and standards
prescribed by Comptroller General and OMB guidelines.
The systems of management control for the CDFI Fund under my purview are designed to
ensure:
•

Programs achieve their intended results;

•

Resources used are consistent with our overall mission;

•

Programs and resources are protected from waste, fraud, and mismanagement;

•

Laws and regulations are followed;

•

Controls are sufficient to minimize any improper or erroneous payments;

•

Performance information is reliable;

•

Systems security is in substantial compliance with all relevant requirements;

•

Continuity of operations planning in critical areas is sufficient to reduce risk to reasonable
levels; and

•

Financial management systems are in compliance with federal financial systems standards,
i.e., FMFIA Section 4 and FFMIA.

For all CDFI Fund responsibilities, I provide herein reasonable assurance that the above listed
management control objectives, taken as a whole, were achieved by our office during FY 2009.
Specifically, this assurance is provided with reference to Sections 2 and 4 of FMFIA. I further
assure our financial management systems are in substantial compliance with requirements
imposed by FFMIA.
The analytical basis for this assurance statement is the overall results from the testing and
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assessment of internal controls over financial reporting which resulted from completion of
the “Department of the Treasury, FY 2009 Guidance and Implementation Plan, Office of
Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-123, Management’s Responsibility for Internal
Control, Appendix A, Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” (March 5, 2009).
In addition, my assurance is based on our assessment of management controls, including
existing policies and procedures, knowledge gained through day-to-day management activities,
the review of various management information reports attendant to those activities, reports
and reviews by internal and external auditors, our annual review performed pursuant to the
Improper Payments Information Act, and our own understanding of the requirements imposed
by both FMFIA and FFMIA.
The Bureau of Public Debt’s (BPD) Administrative Resource Center (ARC) provides full financial
services to the CDFI Fund. As a result of its involvement in the financial reporting process, ARC
provides reasonable assurance based on the Independent Service Auditor’s Report completed by
KPMG dated August 27, 2009. In addition, the Treasury Office of Financial Management (OFM)
has reviewed and concurred with BPD’s assurance level.
The following are findings made by KPMG in the course of their audit of the CDFI Fund’s FY
2009 financial statements, and the CDFI Fund’s management responses:
1. KPMG found that the CDFI Fund does not have the necessary processes to track and reconcile
actual to expected loan principal and interest activities, including the effects of renegotiation and
re-scheduling of such payments. The CDFI Fund concluded that most of the CDFI Program loan
awardees are performing as required and are serving their target communities by expanding
the availability of credit and investment capital in distressed urban and rural communities.
However, management agrees that the recommendations suggested by KPMG will improve the
CDFI Fund’s ability to estimate the allowance for loan loss, as well as determine the impact of
loan restructuring.
As of June 2009, the CDFI Fund has implemented an analysis process that includes a loanby-loan review using key financial ratios from the awardees’ most recent audited financial
statements. This analysis will result in a specific dollar estimate of allowance necessary for FY
2009 rather than the 25 percent blanket allowance used in prior years, thus complying with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 5, 114, and 157. This analysis will continue into
future years.
The CDFI Fund will work with OFM and BPD to develop a loan subledger system by March
31, 2010. The CDFI Fund will coordinate with OFM and BPD to implement procedures to use
this subledger system to evaluate, reconcile payments, identify past-due/delinquent loans, and
categorize them into risk categories. The CDFI Fund projects that we will record most of our
loan portfolio in the subledger system by June 30, 2010, and all by September 30, 2010.
These procedures will result in additional data to be used in conjunction with the loan analysis
described above, thus further improving the process the CDFI Fund implemented in June 2009.
2. KPMG found that the CDFI Fund had a lack of reconciliation of grant disbursements to
the Administrative Resource Center of the Bureau of the Public Debt (ARC-BPD) in a timely
manner. The Fund also does not have a process to regularly assess how changes in operations or
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circumstances may require modification to or development of specific articulated policies and
procedures.
The CDFI Fund concurs with the recommendations. As of September 30, 2009 the CDFI Fund
has adjusted the accounting treatment for investments. Investments are currently appropriately
recognized, valued and have been evaluated for potential other-than-temporary impairments
based on investment type. The CDFI Fund will continue the appropriate accounting treatment
going forward and will develop formal policies and procedures by January 31, 2010 to ensure the
CDFI Fund, BPD-ARC, and OFM are aware of the appropriate investment methodology and
practices.
Starting in FY 2010, the CDFI Fund will notify BPD-ARC of any changes to the investments
status (amendment, redemption) so that BPD-ARC can update the investment schedule it
maintains. The requirement for notification to BPD-ARC of approved changes to the investments
and/or investees will be included in the award amendment policies and procedures under
development. In addition, the CDFI Fund will review the investment schedule provided and
maintained by BPD–ARC on a monthly basis.
3. KPMG found that significant events or transactions could occur and not be properly presented
or disclosed in the annual financial statements.
The CDFI Fund concurred with the finding. The CDFI Fund has initiated a monthly reconciliation
process. In addition, upon the auditors’ request, the CDFI Fund prepared and provided to the auditors
a year-to-date reconciliation of all grant disbursements as of August 31, 2009.
The CDFI Fund will write a formal reconciliation procedure, which will basically be as follows:
The CDFI Fund will generate a report from the disbursement system at the end of each month
and will deliver it to OFM. OFM will generate a report from the Oracle-Discoverer reporting
tool, which will review its current policies and procedures and work with the Office of Financial
Management (OFM) and the Bureau of Public Debt (BPD) to establish additional policy and
procedures, where necessary, to ensure all events and transactions that occur throughout the year
are appropriately presented or disclosed in the financial statements. The Fund also will ensure
that training is provided to the appropriate personnel to facilitate better understanding and
application of generally accepted accounting principles in accordance with FASB.
Donna J. Gambrell
Director
The CDFI Fund
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Description of the CDFI Fund’s Financial Management System

The CDFI Fund contracts for accounting services under a franchise agreement with the Bureau
of the Public Debt’s Administrative Resource Center (ARC) in Parkersburg, West Virginia.
While the ARC maintains the accounting system relating to the CDFI Fund’s transactions, the
CDFI Fund is responsible for the generation of all source documents and the accuracy of all
accounting information.
The CDFI Fund’s financial management system includes the disbursement transactions
maintained by ARC in the accounting system, as well as records maintained and procedures
performed by the CDFI Fund’s financial management staff in the Office of Financial
Management. The CDFI Fund’s resource manager and the Office of Financial Management are
responsible for the administrative control of its funds, budget formulation and execution, and
review and analysis of financial information.

Results of FY 2009 Financial Statement Audit

The FY 2009 audit of the CDFI Fund’s financial statements resulted in an unqualified opinion
with the following three significant deficiencies: 1. Improvements are needed in the accounting
process for estimating loan loss reserves; 2. Improvements are needed in the accounting for
investments; and 3. Improvements are needed in the preparation and review of the financial
statements. The CDFI Fund Management concurred with these deficiencies and responses are
included in Exhibit II of the Auditor’s report. No material weaknesses were identified.

FY 2009 Financial Management Initiatives

In FY 2009, the CDFI Fund’s financial management focus was on continuing to implement and
enhance prior year information technology initiatives.
Community Investment Impact System (CIIS)
CIIS is a Web-based system designed to collect an Institution Level Report (ILR) and Transaction
Level Report (TLR) from CDFIs and CDEs. The CDFI CIIS data collected include the
organization’s profile, financial position, portfolio, community impacts, development services,
other products and services, and compliance measures. The CDE CIIS data collected include the
organization’s profile, QEI distribution, portfolio, loan purchases, and financial counseling and
other services.
Cumulatively through FY 2009, CIIS was used by 517 CDFIs and 193 CDEs to report institutional
level data for 2008 activity (with 31 organizations reporting in both categories). Through FY
2009, a cumulative total of 355 organizations submitted the transactional level details on more
than 152,000 distinct portfolios of loans and equity investments for 2008 activity. This is a 79
percent increase in the total number of transactions reported in the previous year. There were
nearly 85,000 transactions cumulative through FY 2008.
In the past year, the CDFI Fund has used the CIIS data to analyze the characteristics of CDFIs
(including their loan and investment portfolios, capital under management, operating revenues,
and overall financial strength) and to assess the impact CDFIs are having in the communities
they serve. The second round of this analysis was published in December 2007 in a document
entitled Three-year trend analysis of CIIS Institutional level report data: FY 2003-2005. FY 2009
marks the third time that the CDFI Fund made the CIIS data available to the public (within the
parameters of all applicable federal information protection, privacy and confidentiality laws).

2009 Performance and Accountability Report

33

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS FUND
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

The CDFI Fund provided public-use CIIS data and financial support to twelve independent
research teams as part of its CDFI Research Initiative.
Much of the performance information in the Community Development Financial Institutions
Program section of the preceding Program Discussion and Analysis section of this document
was provided through an analysis of CIIS data.
Migration to Grants.gov for Paperless Processing of Applications
The Federal Financial Assistance Management Improvement Act (P.L. 106-107), and the
President’s Management Agenda require all federal grant making agencies to migrate 100
percent of their electronic program applications to the Grants.gov system administered by the
Department of Health and Human Services. During FY 2009, the CDFI Fund posted all of its
applications to Grants.gov, meeting this goal. The CDFI Fund realized cost savings associated
with the intake and processing of all grant applications. During FY 2009, all applications were
posted to Grants.gov using Adobe technology.
Migration to a Grants Management Line of Business for Internal Application
Processing
The Federal Financial Assistance Management Improvement Act and the President’s
Management Agenda require that all federal grant making agencies migrate their electronic
grant processing systems to one of three federally selected Centers of Excellence (CoE). This
initiative is known as the “Grants Management Line of Business” (GMLoB). The process requires
each organization to execute a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with a CoE that best
matches the high-level business requirements of the organization, and to perform a formal fit-gap
analysis to determine the feasibility of migrating the organization’s grants management systems
to that of the CoE.
In response with the above directives, the CDFI Fund partnered with other grant programs
within the U.S. Department of the Treasury (i.e., three IRS programs: Low Income Taxpayer
Clinic, Tax Counseling for the Elderly, and Volunteer Income Tax Assistance Program) to
observe cost savings and to avoid duplication of efforts in addressing the GMLoB requirements.
The CDFI Fund and the IRS executed a joint MoU with the Department of Health and Human
Services (HHS) Administration for Children and Families (ACF) in the second quarter FY 2009.
HHS/ACF performed a detailed fit-gap analysis of both CDFI Fund and IRS grant programs and
found a good fit with the IRS programs; however, the fit-gap study identified “Significant Gaps”
between the CoE’s current capabilities and a number of the CDFI Fund’s key business processes.
In particular, the HHS/ACF could not meet any of the “Certification” and “Compliance”
requirements that the CDFI Fund is mandated to perform (12 U.S.C. 4701 et seq.). Therefore,
the CDFI Fund is currently pursuing its option to obtain a waiver from OMB and to identify
Commercial Off the Shelf (COTS) products that can meet its grants management needs. When
this initiative is completed, it is anticipated that there will be a substantial cost savings and
improved efficiency to the CDFI Fund pertaining to the processing of grant applications.
Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act
The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 requires that all grant
making agencies fully disclose all organizations that receive federal funds. This information will
be reported to the public on a website maintained by the Office of Management and Budget. The
CDFI Fund submitted FY 2009 data directly to USASpend.gov.
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Management Responsibilities

CDFI Fund management is responsible for the fair presentation of information contained in
the principal financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. Management is also responsible for the fair presentation of
the CDFI Fund’s performance measures in accordance with the Office of Management and
Budget requirements. The quality of the CDFI Fund’s internal control structure rests with
management, as does the responsibility for identification of and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations.

Limitations of the Financial Statements

The financial statements report the financial position and results of operations of the CDFI Fund
for the fiscal years ending in September 30, 2009 and 2008, pursuant to the requirements of 31
U.S.C. 3515(b). While the statements have been prepared from the books and records of the
CDFI Fund in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America, the statements are in addition to the financial reports used to monitor and control
budgetary resources which are prepared from the same books and records. The statements
should be read with the realization that they are for a component of the U.S. Government, a
sovereign entity, and that the payment of all liabilities other than for contracts can be abrogated
by the sovereign entity.

Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations
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Allocation of Fund Assets
September 30, 2009
(amounts in millions)
$29.1

$2.7

$51.4

$82.9

Fund Balance With Treasury

Loans Receivable, Net

Investment in Awardees, Net

Other

Assets
Assets decreased by $5.9 million during the year, consisting primarily of a decrease in the
Fund Balance with Treasury which includes appropriated and borrowed funds available to pay
liabilities and to finance authorized award and purchase commitments.
Fund Balance with Treasury
The Fund Balance with Treasury reflected a specific change from the prior year, due to a decrease
in Fund balance of $7.5 million of appropriations for FY 2008 to FY 2009. As a result, the CDFI
Fund has decreased the amount of awards issued during the current year from the CDFI Fund;
however, this amount was partially offset by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of
2009.
Loans Receivable
Loans receivable are increased when loan awards (under the CDFI and NACA programs) are
disbursed by the CDFI Fund and decreased for loan repayments and loan write-downs. During
FY 2009, net loans increased by $5.5 million, resulting from repayments of $3.6 million and
offset by additional loans disbursed during the year of $3.5 million. The allowance for loan losses
decreased by $5.9 million. The effect of these transactions resulted in a net increase in loans
receivable of $5.5 million.
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Investments
The CDFI Fund currently holds five types of investments with net balances as follows:
•

Non-voting equity securities - $23 million

•

Convertible subordinated debt - $0.28 million

•

Limited partnerships - $1.6 million

•

Secondary capital - $4 million

•

Certificates of Deposit - $0.25 million

The primary source of financial data used for the majority of assessments is the most recent
audited financial statements of the investees. These assessments determine whether any other
items, or temporary impairments should be recognized.
Liabilities
The decrease in liabilities during the year of $13.7 million consisted of a decrease in awards
payable of $12.9 million and an increase in other liabilities by $0.7 million, offset by a decrease in
debt of $0.8 million.
Awards Payable
Awards payable consist primarily of undisbursed BEA Program awards (recorded as a liability at
the time of award).
Awards payable have decreased significantly over the past several years, going from $64.7 million
at the end of FY 2001, to $7.9 million at the end of the FY 2009. This decrease occurred for two
reasons: 1) the CDFI Fund’s annual budget appropriation for the BEA Program peaked in FY
2001 with a $46 million appropriation and decreased to $21.7 million by FY 2009, so there was a
smaller amount of BEA Program awards to make each year; and 2) the CDFI Fund has been able
to disburse a significant amount of BEA awards over each of the past several years, since there is
no matching funds requirement for BEA awardees.
Debt
The decrease in debt of $0.8 million relates to repayments of amounts borrowed from Treasury to
fund loans to awardees. Principal repayments collected from awardee loans during the year are
used to repay the Treasury borrowings, and therefore amounts collected and repaid to Treasury
each year will vary from year to year, as they are a function of awardee loan terms.
Net Position
Net position increased during the year by $7.9 million. Net position will change during
the year as a result of the following: 1) the difference between appropriations received (net
of appropriations cancelled, rescinded and adjusted for credit subsidy re-estimates) and
appropriations used; 2) any adjustment of the CDFI Fund’s subsidy reestimate, and 3) the
excess (or shortage) of revenue and financing sources over (under) expenses. During FY 2009,
appropriations received (net of amounts cancelled and rescinded) were $207 million, and
appropriated capital used was $195.7 million. This difference of $11.3 million increases net
position.
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Revenue and Financing Sources
The primary source of revenue and financing sources for the CDFI Fund is the annual
appropriation used to fund expenses (“appropriated capital used” as reflected in the statement
of operations). Pursuant to federal grant accounting requirements, the amount of appropriated
funds recognized as revenue is, with certain adjustments, equal to the amount of operating
expenses for the year. Operating expenses for the year excluding those paid for by others were
$195.3 million. An explanation for the $125.8 million increase in operating expenses from FY
2008 to FY 2009 is associated with the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 and is
discussed in the Expenses section below.

Revenue and Financing Sources
(amounts in millions)
$200

$197.9

$150
$100

$51.3

$71.9 $59.8

$59.0

$72.2

$50
$0

2004

2005

2006

2007

Fiscal Year
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Expenses
The change in the CDFI Fund’s operating expenses during FY 2009 and FY 2008 consisted of the
following:

Comparison of Operating Expenses
Fiscal Years 2009 and 2008
Award Expenses
Administrative Expenses
Bad Debt Expense
Total Operating Expenses

(amounts in millions)
FY 2009
$183.8
$17.4
($5.9)
$195.3

FY 2008 Difference
$54.5
$129.3
$15.2
$2.2
($0.4)
($5.5)
$69.3
$126.0

Award Expenses
The award expenses during the year increased $129.3 million due to an increase in the annual
appropriations for FY 2008 to FY 2009 and due to an additional $98 million for the American
Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009.
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Award Expenses
(amounts in millions)
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2004

$48.5

2005

$18.6

$10.3

$9.6

$33.3

$34.2

$35.9

2006

2007

2008

Fiscal Year

CDFI Program

2009

BEA Program

Administrative Expenses
FY 2009 administrative expenses were $2.0 million more than the prior year. The main reason
for this increase was the increase in personnel costs during FY 2009.
Bad Debt Expense
Bad debt expense is a function of the amount of loans receivable at year-end. As of June 2009,
the CDFI Fund implemented an analysis process that includes a loan-by-loan review using
key financial ratios from the awardees’ most recent audited financial statements. This analysis
results in a specific dollar estimate of allowance necessary for FY 2009 rather than the 25 percent
blanket allowance used in prior years, thus complying with FAS 5, 114 and 157. Loans receivable
increased during FY 2009 by $5.5 million, resulting in a decrease to the allowance for bad debts
of $5.9 million (the amount of the allowance for bad debts is a function of the loan receivable
balance).
Net Loss
As stated above, the amount of appropriated capital used (the largest component of the CDFI
Fund’s revenue) is, with certain adjustments, equal to the amount of operating expenses for
the year. Accordingly, the shortage of revenue and other financing sources over expenses (the
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CDFI Fund’s “net loss”) will consist of the amount by which expenses not covered by budgetary
resources exceeds revenue and financial sources other than appropriated capital used.
For FY 2009, expenses not covered by budgetary resources totaled $2.1 million, consisting of
interest expense on Treasury borrowings.
Revenue and financial sources other than appropriated capital used and imputed financing
sources totaled $1.5 million, consisting of interest and dividends.
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Independent Auditors’ Reports
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2009 and 2008
(1) Description of Reporting Entity
The Community Development Financial Institutions (CDFI) Fund was created as a bipartisan
initiative in the Riegle Community Development and Regulatory Improvement Act of 1994
(Public Law No. 103-325). The CDFI Fund was placed in the Department of the Treasury and
began operations in July 1995.
The CDFI Fund operates various programs aimed at expanding the availability of credit,
investment capital, and financial and other services in distressed urban, rural, and Native
American communities. Through the CDFI Fund, a national network of financial institutions
has been created that is dedicated to community development that leverages private resources
(financial) to address community development needs.
The programs operated by the CDFI Fund are the Community Development Financial
Institutions (CDFI) Program (consisting of the Financial Assistance and Technical Assistance
Components), the New Markets Tax Credit (NMTC) Program, the Bank Enterprise Award
(BEA) Program, the Native Initiatives, and the Financial Education and Counseling (FEC) Pilot
Program.
The CDFI Program provides financial and technical assistance awards to certified Community
Development Financial Institutions (CDFIs) which in turn provide services to create community
development impact in underserved markets and for people who have otherwise lacked access to
capital. Financial assistance awards take the form of grants, direct loans, and equity investments.
Technical Assistance grants provide assistance to start-up and early-stage CDFIs and entities
planning to become CDFIs.
The CDFI Fund implemented the NMTC Program during FY 2002. Under this program, the
CDFI Fund provides to certified Community Development Entities (CDEs) the authority to
allocate tax credits to attract private sector investment. Proceeds from these investments are
used for community development purposes. Unlike the CDFI Fund’s monetary award programs,
the allocation of tax credit authority to CDEs has no effect on the financial statements of the
CDFI Fund.
The BEA Program provides financial incentives to insured depository institutions (banks and
thrifts) to invest in CDFIs and to increase their lending and financial services in distressed
communities. Program participants are selected based on projected achievements, contrasted
with prior achievements. The awards are disbursed only after the proposed activities have been
implemented successfully, to ensure that only completed activities are recognized.
Through the Native Initiatives, the CDFI Fund provides financial assistance and technical
assistance awards and conducts extensive training to help create CDFIs and to build the capacity
of existing Native CDFIs that serve primarily Native American, Alaskan Native, and Native
Hawaiian communities. The Native Initiatives’ award program is the Native American CDFI
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Assistance (NACA) Program
In FY 2009, the CDFI Fund was appropriated $2 million to administer a Financial Education
and Counseling (FEC) Program. Through the FEC Pilot Program, the CDFI Fund may provide
grants to eligible organizations (including CDFIs) to enable them to provide a range of financial
education and counseling services to prospective homebuyers, with the goals of: 1) increasing
the financial knowledge and decision-making capabilities of prospective homebuyers; 2) assisting
prospective homebuyers to develop monthly budgets, build personal savings, finance or plan
major purchases, reduce debt, improve financial stability, and set and reach financial goals; 3)
helping prospective homebuyers to improve credit scores by understanding the relationship
between credit histories and credit scores; and 4) educating prospective homebuyers about the
options available to build savings for short- and long-term goals.
(2) The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009
The Recovery Act appropriated an additional $100 million to the CDFI Fund for the FY 2009
funding round to make awards through the CDFI Program and the NACA Program. Of this
amount, $90 million was made available to CDFIs under the FA Component of the CDFI
Program, $8 million was made available under the NACA Program, and $2 million was used to
fund administrative costs incurred by the CDFI Fund.
For all CDFI Program awards made under the FY 2009 funding round, regardless of the source
of funds (i.e., the Recovery Act vs. standard annual appropriations), the Recovery Act waived: 1)
the requirement that the awardee obtain matching funds from non-federal sources; and 2) the
general requirement that no single awardee (or its affiliates) can receive more than $5 million in
assistance from the CDFI Fund over a 3-year period. This allowed the CDFI Fund to make all
of its CDFI Program awards for the FY 2009 round in the form of grants, while in prior award
rounds the form of the award was based on the form of the matching funds.
The Recovery Act also authorizes the CDFI Fund to allocate an additional $3 billion in tax credit
authority to qualified CDEs under the NMTC Program, as follows: $1.5 billion (unaudited) to
CDEs that applied for allocation authority under the 2008 NMTC allocation round; and $1.5
billion (unaudited) to CDEs that apply for allocation authority under the 2009 NMTC allocation
round. This is not an amount subject to accounting and reporting by the CDFI Fund and is for
informational purposes only.
(3)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a)

Basis of Presentation
The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) has designated the
Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) as the standards‑setting
body for financial statements of federal governmental entities, with respect to the
establishment of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. SFFAS 34, issued by FASAB, provides authoritative guidance allowing
federal entities to prepare financial statements in conformance with accounting and
reporting principles issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).
Accordingly, the CDFI Fund financial statements are presented in accordance with
accounting standards published by FASB.
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(b)

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant items subject to
such estimates include allowance for bad debts and the identification and valuation
of investment impairments.

(c)

Fund Balance with Treasury
The CDFI Fund does not maintain cash in commercial bank accounts. The U.S.
Department of the Treasury processes cash receipts and disbursements. The Fund
Balance with Treasury is composed primarily of appropriated and borrowed funds
(financing and program accounts) that are available to pay liabilities and finance
authorized award and purchase commitments.

(d)

Loans Receivable, net of Allowance for Bad Debts
Loans receivable relate to direct loans made to certain CDFI Program awardees
and are recorded at face value. Direct and incremental loan costs are deemed to
be de minimis. Any interest is recognized over the life of the loan, when earned.
Amounts collected on loans receivable are included in cash flows from investing
activities in the statements of cash flows. During FY 2009, the CDFI Fund received
requests from awardees requesting an extension of their maturity dates. As of
September 30, 2009, the requests are being processed in collaboration with the Office
of Management and Budget and the Department of the Treasury Office of Financial
Management. While the loan extensions are being processed, awardees do not make
principal payments. The CDFI Fund continues to collect interest on all loans that
are delinquent, past maturity or when ultimate collectability is in doubt.
The allowance for bad debts is the CDFI Fund’s best estimate of the amount of credit
losses in the CDFI Fund’s existing loans. The allowance includes both specific and
non-specific loan analysis. The non-specific portion of the allowance considers
historical write-off trends and current market conditions. The specific portion
is determined on an individual basis upon review of any loan that has a past due
balance or no payment required until maturity. A loan is considered impaired
pursuant to FASB ASC-310-10-35. A loan is impaired if it is probable that the CDFI
Fund will not collect all principal and interest contractually due. The impairment is
measured based on the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at
the loan’s effective interest rate. Impairment losses are charged against the allowance
and increases in the allowance are charged to bad debt expense. Loans are written
off against the allowance when all possible means of collection have been exhausted
and the potential for recovery is considered remote. The CDFI Fund has recorded
the interest income when received on the impaired loans that have been submitted
for loan modifications.
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(e)

Interest Receivable
Interest is accrued on the outstanding loans receivable principal balances and
investments based on stated rates of interest.

(f)

Investments
The CDFI Fund provides assistance to certain for-profit CDFI Program awardees
by purchasing various investments described below. The CDFI Fund is restricted
from owning more than 50% of the equity of awardees and from controlling their
operations. Held-to-maturity debt securities are those debt securities in which the
CDFI Fund has the ability and intent to hold the security until maturity.
• Non-voting Equity Securities:  These investments are carried at original cost
subject to other-than-temporary impairments.
• Secondary Capital Interests:  These interests are held-to-maturity and carried at
amortized cost subject to other-than-temporary impairments.
• Convertible Subordinated Debt:  This instrument exhibits sufficient
characteristics of an equity security as the CDFI Fund is entitled to any dividends
in the non-voting common stock as if the CDFI Fund had converted the debentures
into such stock prior to the declaration of the dividend. This investment is held-tomaturity and carried at amortized cost, net of applicable discounts, subject to otherthan-temporary impairments.
• Limited Partnership Interests:  These interests are carried in accordance with the
equity method of accounting by recognizing the pro-rata share of investee profit/loss
through the statement of operations. Investments are further subject to assessment
of any other-than-temporary impairments as discussed below.
• Certificates of Deposits:  These investments are held-to-maturity and recognized
at cost as they are fully insured.
Held-to-maturity debt securities are recorded at amortized cost, adjusted for the
amortization of premiums or discounts. Premiums and discounts are amortized
over the life of any related held-to-maturity security as an adjustment to yield using
the straight-line method.
For non-voting equity securities and limited partnerships, a decline in the fair value of any
security below cost that is deemed to be other-than-temporary results in an impairment
to reduce the carrying amount to fair value. The impairment is charged to earnings and
a new cost basis for the security is established. To determine if an impairment is otherthan-temporary, the CDFI Fund considers whether: 1) it has the ability and intent to
hold the investment until a market price recovery; and 2) evidence indicating the cost of
the investment is recoverable outweighs evidence to the contrary. Evidence considered
in this assessment includes the reasons for the impairment, the severity and duration of
the impairment, changes in value subsequent to year-end, forecasted performance of the
investee, and the general market condition in the industry in which the investee operates.
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(g)

Internal Use Software
Internal use software represents the completed phases of various software placed in
service pertaining to: 1) processing applications—this software automates the award
application submission process; 2) geocoding—web-based software that geocodes
addresses, census tracts, and counties, and enables applicants to determine the
funding eligibility of census tracts and counties under CDFI’s various programs; and
3) the Community Investment Impact System (CIIS)—a web-based data collection
system for CDFIs and CDEs.
The software is amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
life of seven years. Amortization expenses for the years ended September 30, 2009
and 2008 was $607,914 and $623,893, (unaudited) respectively.

(h)

Internal Use Software in Development
Internal use software encompasses software design, development, and testing
of projects adding significant new functionality and long-term benefits. Costs
for developing internal-use software are accumulated in internal-use software
development until a project is placed into service, and testing and final acceptance
are successfully completed. Once completed the costs are transferred to internal-use
software.

(i)

Leases
At the beginning of each fiscal year, the CDFI Fund obtains the estimated annual
amount for all operating leases. The CDFI Fund then establishes an obligation to be
recorded within the financial system for the full amount of the estimate. The CDFI
Fund approves each monthly IPAC transaction and submits the approved form to
BPD for processing on a monthly basis.

(j)

Awards Payable
CDFI Program award expense is recognized and awards payable are recorded when
the CDFI Fund is made aware, in writing, that the awardee has met the conditions
required for payment and the CDFI Fund approves an award disbursement to be
made. BEA Program grant expense is recognized and awards payable are recorded
when the CDFI Fund approves the BEA award to be made (i.e., at the time the funds
are obligated).

(k)

Retirement Plans
CDFI Fund employees participate in the Civil Service Retirement System (CSRS)
or the Federal Employees’ Retirement System (FERS). FERS was established by the
enactment of Public Law 99-335. Pursuant to this law, FERS and Social Security
automatically cover most employees hired after December 31, 1983.
Employees hired prior to January 1, 1984, were provided an opportunity to join
either FERS and Social Security or to remain in CSRS.
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For all employees, a Thrift Savings Plan (TSP) account is automatically established,
and the employee can have an amount up to a predetermined maximum withheld
from his or her base salary and deposited into a TSP account. For FERS employees
only, the CDFI Fund makes matching contributions ranging from one to four
percent for employees who contribute to their TSP account. There is no matching
contribution for CSRS employees.
In addition, CDFI Fund employees participating in CSRS have seven percent of
their base salary withheld and contributed into a Retirement Fund. The CDFI Fund
contributes the same amount into the Retirement Fund.
FERS employees and CSRS reinstatement employees are eligible to participate in the
Social Security program for retirement. In these instances, the CDFI Fund remits
the employer’s share of the required contribution.
(l)

Annual, Sick, and Other Leave
Annual leave and compensatory leave is accrued as a liability when earned by the
employee, and the accrual is reduced as leave is taken. The balance in this accrued
liability account is computed using current pay rates. Sick leave and other types of
non-vested leave are expensed as the leave is taken.

(m) Debt
Debt represents borrowings payable to the Treasury Department that were made to
fund direct loans made by the CDFI Program. Principal repayments to the Treasury
Department are required to be made based on the collections of loans receivable and
are due September 30 of each year of maturity.
(n)

Contingencies
The CDFI Fund has employment-related cases (e.g., allegations of discrimination
pending with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission) in which losses
are possible but not predicted, but for which a range of potential loss could not be
determined.

(o)

Revenue and Other Income
Except with respect to certain dividend and interest payments noted below, the
CDFI Fund receives all of its funding through appropriations from the U.S.
Congress. The CDFI Fund receives two-year appropriations that may be used,
within statutory limits, for awards and operating expenses. Appropriations are
recognized as revenues at the time the CDFI Fund’s awards are recorded as expenses,
and when administrative expenses and provision for bad debts covered by budgetary
resources are incurred.
Occasionally, the CDFI Fund receives dividends on its equity investments and may
use those funds for awards and operating expenses. Dividends are recognized when
received.
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Additional revenue is obtained from interest received on direct loans to the public
and on uninvested funds held by the Treasury Department. Interest is recognized
when earned.
(p)

Tax Status
The CDFI Fund, as a government entity, is not subject to federal, state, or local
income taxes, and, accordingly, no provision for income tax is recorded.

(q)

Fair Value Measurements
On October 1, 2008, the CDFI Fund adopted the provisions of FASB ASC-82010-05, Fair Value Measurements, for fair value measurements of financial assets
and financial liabilities. This standard defines fair value, establishes a consistent
framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure requirements for fair
value measurements (Note 7).

(r)

Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to
conform to the current year presentation.

4)

Fund Balance with Treasury

Fund balance with Treasury as of September 30, 2009 and 2008 consisted of the following
components:

Available
Obligated
Expired

2009

2008

$

11,442,084
70,230,550
1,270,620

3,382,280
85,664,264
1,363,622

$

82,943,254

90,410,166

Fund Balance with Treasury includes appropriated and borrowed funds available to pay liabilities
and to finance authorized award and purchase commitments.
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2009
61,114,965
3,556,284
3,918,268)
(94,977)
9,282,169)
51,375,835

5,278,741)
5,901,595

94,977
9,282,169)
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5)

Loans Receivable

Loans receivable are primarily from the funds provided to awardees. Receivables consisted of the
following:

Balance as of beginning of year
Add: Loans disbursed
Less: Loan repayments
Less: Write off of loans
Allowance for bad debts
Loans receivable, net, as of end of year

2009
$61,114,965
3,556,284
(3,918,268)
(94,977)
(9,282,169)
$51,375,835

(Unaudited)
2008
62,558,357
1,096,906
(2,540,298)
- 0
(15,278,741)
45,836,224

The changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts consisted
of the following:
(Unaudited)

2008
Balance as of beginning of year
$(15,278,741)
(15,639,589)
62,558,357
Decrease in allowance credited to expense
5,901,595
360,848
1,096,906
Accounts credited against the allowance,
(2,540,298)
net of redemptions
94,977
- 0
Balance-as of end of year
$(9,282,169)
$(15,278,741)
(15,278,741)
45,836,224
Current loans receivable as of September 30, 2009, were $7,974,446 (net of allowance of
$1,440,758). Long-term loans receivable as of September 30, 2009, were $43,401,389 (net of
allowance of $7,841,411).
(15,639,589)
Current loans receivable as of September 30, 2008, were $4,373,080 (net of allowance of
360,848
$1,457,693). Long-term loans receivable as of September 30, 2008 were $41,463,144 (net of
allowance of $13,821,048).
$(15,278,741)
Interest accrues on these loans in accordance with applicable awardee assistance agreements.
Interest income for the years ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, was $1,235,417 and $1,240,463
(unaudited), respectively. Interest receivable for the years ended September 30, 2009 and 2008,
was $379,340 and $339,022, respectively.
During the year ended September 30, 2009, the CDFI Fund had an average recorded investment
of $3,073,114 in impaired loans and a $1,771,742 related allowance for bad debts. During this
year, the CDFI Fund recognized related interest income of $16,682 using a cash-basis method of
accounting for these impaired loans.
(6)

Investment Securities  

The carrying amounts, gross unrealized holding losses and fair value of held-to maturity debt
securities by major security type at September 30, 2009 and 2008, are as follows:
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Aggregate Fair
Value
Investments, Held to Maturity at September 30, 2009:
Certificates of deposit
$
Convertible debt securities
Secondary capital securities
Total
$

Gross
Unrealized
Loss

250,000 $
280,000
3,975,000
4,505,000 $

-

175,000 $
2,000,000
4,625,000
6,800,000 $

-

-

Net Carrying
Amount

-

$
$

250,000
280,000
3,975,000
4,505,000

Investments, Held to Maturity at September 30, 2008:
Certificates of deposit
Convertible debt securities
Secondary capital securities
Total

$
$

-

-

$
$

175,000
2,000,000
4,625,000
6,800,000

Maturities of debt securities classified as held-to-maturity were as follows at September 30, 2009:
Fair Value
Held to Maturity:
Due within one year
Due after one through five years
Due after ten years

$ 600,000
3,425,000
480,000
$4,505,000

Net Carrying
Amount

$ 600,000
3,425,000
480,000
$4,505,000

The CDFI Fund evaluates whether unrealized losses on investment securities indicate otherthan-temporary impairment. Based on this evaluation, the CDFI Fund recognized no otherthan-temporary impairment losses of these investments in 2009 or 2008.
Convertible debt securities consist of non-interest bearing convertible subordinated debentures.
As of September 30, 2009 and 2008, this category consists of one debenture of $2 million which
matures January 2048 with the option to convert into 200,000 shares of non-voting class B
common stock at a $10 per share conversion price.
Secondary capital securities consist of investments that cannot be redeemed prior to scheduled
redemption dates.
Certificates of deposits are investments in federal credit union awardees, and have interest rates
ranging from zero to two percent.
(7)

Fair Value Measurements
(a)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
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The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the CDFI
Fund’s financial instruments at September 30, 2009 and 2008. The fair value of an instrument
is the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
2009
Carrying
amount

2008
Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Financial assets:
Fund Balance with Treasury
Loans receivable
Investments, amortized cost
Investments, cost method
Interest receivable

$82,943,000

$82,943,000

$90,410,000

$90,410,000

51,375,000

33,271,000

45,836,000

29,683,803

4,255,000

4,505,000

6,800,000

5,080,000

21,275,000

26,213,000

22,205,000

26,486,000

379,000

379,000

339,000

339,000

7,909,000

7,909,000

20,800,000

20,800,000

40,638,000

22,304,000

41,402,000

20,617,000

Financial liabilities:
Awards payable
Debt

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of
financial instrument:
Fund Balance with Treasury, interest receivable and awards payable: The carrying amounts,
at face value or cost plus accrued interest, approximate fair value because of the short maturity of
these instruments.
Loans receivable, debt, convertible debt securities and secondary capital securities:  The
fair value is determined as the present value of future contractual cash flows discounted at an
interest rate that reflects the risks inherent in those cash flows. The discount rates approximate
rates currently offered by local lending institutions for loans of similar terms to companies with
comparable risk. The fair value of nonperforming loans is determined as the present value of
expected future cash flows discounted at an interest rate that reflects the risks inherent in those
cash flows. The expected cash flows were estimated based on the awardee’s financial condition
and the long-term potential of the business in relation to the maturity date of the loan.
Non-voting equity securities: The CDFI Fund records these equity investments under the cost
method of accounting. The CDFI Fund considers qualitative assessments of the viability of the
investee, fundamental financial analysis and evaluation of the financial statements of the investee
and prospects for its future.
Certificates of Deposit: The fair value of Certificates of Deposit is discounted cash flow at a
market rate.
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(b)

Fair Value Hierarchy

On October 1, 2008, the CDFI Fund adopted the provisions of FASB ASC-820-10-05, Fair
Value Measurements, for fair value measurements of financial assets and financial liabilities.
This standard defines fair value, establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value
and expands disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. This standard establishes
a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to measurements
involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair
value hierarchy are as follows:
           • L
 evel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the CDFI Fund has the ability to access at the measurement date.
           • L
 evel 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
           • Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
None of the CDFI Fund’s investments are in publicly traded entities for which a share price can
be readily obtained. Accordingly, the CDFI Fund used Level 3 inputs to measure fair value of
investments.
(8)

Cost Method Investments

Investments accounted for under the cost method consist of non-voting common stock held in
for-profit CDFI Program awardees and preferred non-voting stock held in two awardees. The
aggregate amount of these investments is $21,274,820 and $22,029,820 at September 30, 2009 and
2008, respectively. All securities were evaluated for impairment. Two investments were written
off during FY2009 totaling $525,000.
(9)

Equity Method Investments

Investments accounted for under the equity method consist of a Class B limited partnership
interest in Sustainable Jobs Fund, LP (12 percent), an interest in Pacific Community Ventures (9
percent), a non-voting redeemable transferable interest in BCLF Ventures II, LLC (18 percent),
and three units of preferred interest in Shorebridge Capital LLC (17 percent). These totaled
$3,341,762 and $3,891,762 at September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
(10) Debt
Debt consists of amounts borrowed from the U.S. Treasury Department and included the
following activity for the years ended September 30, 2009 and 2008:
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(Unaudited)
2008

2009
Beginning balance
New borrowings
Repayments
Ending balance

$

41,402,862 $
2,814,895
(3,579,746)

41,901,850
2,864,834
(3,363,822)

$

40,638,011

41,402,862

$

The payments to Treasury are due on September 30 of each year of maturity. Principal payments
on this debt as of September 30, 2009, are as follows:
Fiscal Year
2010

Principal Payments
$

---

2011

---

2012

636,914

2013

623,112

2014

658,895

Later years, through 2037

38,719,090
$40,638,011

During FY 2009, the CDFI Fund borrowed $2,325,810 to finance current year direct loan
commitments and $489,085 to meet annual interest payments due to the Treasury Department,
at interest rates ranging from 3.55 percent to 6.48 percent, depending on maturity dates or risk
categories.
During FY 2008, the CDFI Fund borrowed $2,590,737 (unaudited) to finance current year
direct loan commitments and subsidy reestimates and $274,097 (unaudited) to meet annual
interest payments due to the Treasury Department, at interest rates ranging from 3.55 percent
(unaudited) to 6.77 percent (unaudited), depending on maturity dates or risk categories.
Interest paid in cash for the years ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, was $2,072,015 and
$2,222,201 (unaudited), respectively.
(11) Commitments
(a)

Operating Leases

The CDFI Fund leases office space from the General Services Administration in the Homer
Building located in Washington, D.C., under the terms of an operating lease (renewed in FY
2007) which expires in January 2012. The CDFI Fund also leases equipment under the terms of
an operating lease. The total operating lease expense was $1,485,251 and $1,283,464 (unaudited)
for the years ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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Future minimum payments due under these operating leases as of September 30, 2009, were as
follows:
Fiscal Year

Minimum Lease Payments
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

(b)

$1,475,038
1,479,885
37,183
37,183
37,183
$3,066,472

Award and Purchase Commitments

As of September 30, 2009 and 2008, award commitments amounted to $58,624,309 and
$63,510,459, respectively. Award commitments relate to CDFI Program and Native Initiative
Program awards which were approved by CDFI Fund management but not disbursed as of the
end of the year. These award commitments are not considered liabilities at year-end because the
awardees have not met the conditions required for payment. Award commitments pertaining
to the Bank Enterprise Award (BEA) Program of $7,909,214 and $20,800,195 as of September 30,
2009 and 2008, respectively, are excluded from these amounts since they are reflected as liabilities
on the CDFI Fund’s balance sheet.
Purchase commitments of $3,911,158 and $3,900,335 as of September 30, 2009 and 2008,
respectively, relate to the unexpired portion of contracts, and purchase orders relating to goods
and services not yet received.
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(12) Unexpended Appropriations
Unexpended appropriations for the years ended September 30, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:
(Unaudited)
2008

2009
Beginning unexpended appropriations
Appropriations received
Appropriations for Subsidy Reestimate
Appropriations cancelled
Appropriations expended
Downward Reestimate Adjustment
Change in unexpended appropriations

$

Ending unexpended appropriations

$

81,220,327 $
207,000,000 $
—
(961,987)
(195,711,732)
—
10,326,281
91,546,608

60,170,818
94,000,000
1,078,368
(2,340,417)
(69,790,071)
(1,898,371)
21,049,509

$

81,220,327

(13) Imputed Financing
Imputed financing represents specific expenses relating to the CDFI Fund paid for by another
federal organization. The components of imputed financing for the years ended September 30,
2009 and 2008, are as follows:
(Unaudited)
2008

2009
Pension Cost (CSRS Retirement Plan)
Pension Cost (FERS Retirement Plan)
Health Insurance (Health Benefits Program)
Life Insurance (Group Life Insurance Program)
Audit Fees
Total
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82,351
14,454
310,824
952
323,712

$

69,674
—
266,220
908
270,881

$

732,293

$

607,683
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(14) Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses consist of the following for the years ended September 30, 2009 and
2008:
(Unaudited)
2008

2009
Personnel compensation and benefits
Travel
Rent, communications, utilities and miscellaneous charges
Contractual services
Information technology systems maintenance
Amortization
Supplies and printing
Other
Total

$

7,248,561
221,162
2,636,858
5,372,395
258,359
607,914
191,385
95,797

$

6,973,567
321,673
1,496,774
4,857,380
191,197
623,893
82,253
68,594

$

16,632,431

$

14,615,331

(15) Net Loss
The net loss for fiscal years 2009 and 2008 includes $0 and $51,900 (unaudited), respectively,
of grants and subsidies that were funded from the CDFI Fund’s no-year account. The no-year
account consists of the proceeds from the redemption of investments (see note 3 for a description
of the types of investments) as well as income received from these investments.
Pursuant to the CDFI Fund’s authorizing legislation, the no-year account can be used to fund
new awards. Unlike CDFI Fund awards that are made out of appropriated funds (which serve to
increase award expenses as well as appropriated capital used and so have no effect on the shortage
of revenue and financing sources under expenses), awards funded from the no-year account only
affect award expenses, and so serve to increase the net loss.
(16) Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The CDFI Fund does not record investments or loans at fair value on a recurring basis. However,
from time to time, the CDFI Fund records nonrecurring fair value adjustments to reflect partial
write-downs that are based on current financial indicators of the awardees. The CDFI Fund
uses qualitative assessments of the viability of the awardee and evaluation of the financial
statements of the awardee and the prospects for its future. Financial statement disclosures and
audit opinions were reviewed for the most recent five years for indications of going concern or
operational issues. Calculations of pro-rata equity, capitalized cash flow analysis, total cash, and
other trend analysis were performed to determine fair value.
For assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis in 2009 that were still on the balance
sheet at year end, the following table provides the level of valuation assumptions used and the
carrying value of the related individual assets or portfolios at year end.
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Fair Value Measuremets Using
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Total Loss

Investments

$

—

$

—

$ 21,274,820

$

(780,000)

Total

$

—

$

—

$ 21,274,820

$

(780,000)

Investments with a carrying value of $22,029,820 were written down to their fair value of
$21,274,820, resulting in an impairment loss of $755,000, which was included in earnings for the
period.
(17) Related Party Transactions
During FY 2009, the CDFI Fund awarded a grant for $89,530 to Pacific Community Ventures,
with whom the CDFI Fund holds a limited interest.
The CDFI Fund has Interagency Agreements with the Department of Treasury. As of September
30, 2009, these related party expenses amounted to $5,736,309.
Expenses were recorded as follows: Interagency Agreements with Treasury’s Departmental
Offices, Office of Financial Management (OFM) for Financial Management Services, Conference
and Events; Postage; Human Resources Services, for the amount of $736,485. An Interagency
Agreement with the Working Capital Fund shared IT services from the Office of the Chief
Information Officer, for the amount of $1,108,202. An Interagency Agreement with the Bureau
of Public Debt (BPD) for Accounting Services Application Intake Process, for the amount of
$107,938. An Interagency Agreement with BPD for Accounting Services; eTravel; and web site
hosting, for the amount of $570,475.
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Appendices
(Unaudited)
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Appendix A • FY 2009 CDFI Fund Award and Allocation Activities
FA Awards

STATE
Alabama
Alaska
Arizona
Arkansas
California
Colorado
Connecticut
Delaware
District of Columbia
Florida
Georgia
Hawaii
Idaho
Illinois
Indiana
Iowa
Kansas
Kentucky
Louisiana
Maine
Maryland
Massachusetts
Michigan
Minnesota
Mississippi
Missouri
Montana
Nebraska
Nevada
New Hampshire
New Jersey
New Mexico
New York
North Carolina
North Dakota
Ohio
Oklahoma
Oregon
Pennsylvania

60

#

$

0
$0
0
$0
1 $1,000,000
0
$0
10 $16,000,000

SECA/
TA Only
Awards (1)

#
$
0
$0
0
$0
0
$0
0
$0
7 $1,972,539

#

$
4
6
2

$0
$868,661
$2,877,793
$0
$243,526

#
1
6

$0

-

0

$0

1

$100,000

-

1
0
3
0
1
0
0
3
0
0
0
3
2
2
0
2
2
5
0
1
1
0
0
1
2
0
13
2
0
3
1
3
5

$910,000
$0
$3,000,000
$0
$1,000,000
$0
$0
$4,000,000
$0
$0
$0
$5,000,000
$4,000,000
$3,000,000
$0
$3,000,000
$3,000,000
$7,000,000
$0
$1,000,000
$2,000,000
$0
$0
$2,000,000
$3,000,000
$0
$19,800,000
$4,000,000
$0
$2,500,000
$2,000,000
$5,000,000
$9,000,000

0
0
2
0
2
1
0
2
0
1
0
1
0
0
2
5
0
4
0
0
2
1
0
0
1
2
8
0
1
1
0
0
5

$0
$0
$594,992
$0
$850,000
$100,000
$0
$194,582
$0
$500,000
$0
$500,000
$0
$0
$195,288
$1,955,651
$0
$1,700,000
$0
$0
$633,010
$600,000
$0
$0
$500,000
$1,100,000
$3,222,761
$0
$600,000
$500,000
$0
$0
$1,424,392

3
1
3
3
1
2
1
2
1
2
-

Allocation of
Total Awards New Markets Tax
Credits

BEA
Awards

NI Awards

$

#

$0
$0
$700,000
$0
$3,426,252
$0

$0 1
$432,000
$0 1
$700,000
$0 1
$700,000
$0 1
$700,000
$0 3
$604,282
$845,000 $0
$0 $0
$0 14 $6,732,686
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 7
$581,700
$0 1
$700,000
$877,550 $0
$0 $0
$0 1
$477,474
$426,532 $0
$872,131 4 $1,932,807
$0 1
$14,580
$0 1
$700,000
$119,739 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 $0
$0 1
$700,000
$620,000 $0
$24,390 1
$700,000
$612,174 1
$72,000
$132,377 $0
$0 $0
$1,266,522 $0
$0 1
$216,547
$0 1
$165,501
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$

$0
4
$868,661
8 $4,577,793
$0
25 $21,642,317

#

$

1
1
2
13

$0
$50,000,000
$25,000,000
$125,000,000
$513,000,000

$100,000

4

$145,000,000

2 $1,342,000
1
$700,000
6 $4,294,992
1
$700,000
6 $2,454,282
4
$945,000
$0
19 $10,927,268
$0
1
$500,000
$0
11 $6,081,700
3 $4,700,000
3 $3,877,550
2
$195,288
8 $5,433,125
5 $3,426,532
16 $11,504,938
1
$14,580
2 $1,700,000
4 $2,752,749
1
$600,000
$0
1 $2,000,000
4 $4,200,000
4 $1,720,000
23 $23,747,151
5 $4,684,174
2
$732,377
4 $3,000,000
3 $3,266,522
4 $5,216,547
11 $10,589,893

1
5
2
2
5
1
3
1
5
1
9
4
4
3
1
7
1
10
1
8
3
3
3

$85,000,000
$0
$260,000,000
$120,000,000
$120,000,000
$0
$0
$265,000,000
$50,000,000
$215,000,000
$0
$25,000,000
$300,000,000
$125,000,000
$350,000,000
$280,000,000
$178,000,000
$180,000,000
$20,000,000
$420,000,000
$0
$0
$0
$0
$20,000,000
$0
$695,000,000
$30,000,000
$0
$290,000,000
$85,000,000
$100,000,000
$109,000,000
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STATE
Puerto Rico
Rhode Island
South Carolina
South Dakota
Tennessee
Texas
Utah
U.S. Virgin Islands
Vermont
Virginia
Washington
West Virginia
Wisconsin
Wyoming

Amounts Awarded
in FY 2009 Funding
Round

FA Awards

SECA/
TA Only
Awards (1)

NI Awards

#

#

#

$
1
0
0
1
1
4
0
0
3
2
2
0
4
0

$1,000,000
$0
$0
$1,000,000
$2,000,000
$4,000,000
$0
$0
$6,000,000
$2,000,000
$2,000,000
$0
$3,750,000
$0

3
0
1
1
1
1
1
0
0
0
4
1
0
0

$
$797,394
$0
$600,000
$95,932
$27,500
$500,000
$500,000
$0
$0
$0
$754,876
$600,000
$0
$0

85 $122,960,000 62 $21,118,917

$
1
6
1
3
2
1

$0
$0
$149,281
$3,369,580
$0
$32,756
$0
$0
$0
$0
$864,989
$0
$735,381
$860,002

BEA
Awards

#
1
2
1
1
2
-

$
$0
$0
$71,726
$0
$706,593
$104,864
$0
$0
$0
$53,739
$0
$0
$1,139,575
$0

45 $15,798,384 55 $22,332,326

Allocation of
Total Awards New Markets Tax
Credits

#

$
4
3
8
4
7
1
3
3
9
1
8
1

#

$

$1,797,394
$0
$821,007
$4,465,512
$2,734,093
$4,637,620
$500,000
$0
$6,000,000
$2,053,739
$3,619,865
$600,000
$5,624,956
$860,002

2
1
1
4
1
6
4
8
-

$55,000,000
$0
$60,000,000
$0
$30,000,000
$185,000,000
$0
$0
$30,000,000
$415,000,000
$125,000,000
$420,000,000
$0

247 $182,209,627

131

$6,500,000,000

(1) Consists of both Technical Assistance Awards and Small and Emerging CDFIs Assistance (SECA)
Awards
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Appendix B: Aggregate Awards
State

Alabama
Alaska

Total Awards
From
NMTC
BEA Awards Inception
Allocations (2)

Native Initiative
Awards (1)

$145,000

$475,500

$0

$615,075

$1,235,575

$40,000,000

$7,912,500

$306,000

$1,914,741

$0

$10,133,241

$90,000,000

Arizona

$6,806,500

$491,867

$6,279,257

$1,509,288

$15,086,912

$300,000,000

Arkansas

$10,239,300

$605,647

$70,000

$5,075,223

$15,990,170

$140,000,000

California

$75,126,712

$5,442,833

$1,107,593

$43,512,493

$125,189,631

$2,112,000,000

Colorado

$9,631,300

$3,509,066

$270,000

$2,116,915

$15,527,281

$472,000,000

Connecticut

$3,793,500

$863,044

$0

$805,205

$5,461,749

$85,000,000

$923,731

$122,000

$0

$3,451,000

$4,496,731

$50,000,000

District of Columbia

$17,803,342

$1,948,842

$0

$7,257,450

$27,009,634

$1,855,000,000

Delaware
Florida

$17,823,800

$1,355,798

$0

$10,191,003

$29,370,601

$135,000,000

Georgia

$4,783,900

$1,585,281

$0

$7,390,146

$13,759,327

$504,000,000

Hawaii

$1,000,000

$907,825

$1,566,121

$1,069,199

$4,543,145

$28,000,000

Idaho

$3,534,300

$200,000

$0

$0

$3,734,300

$0

Illinois

$40,276,975

$2,653,117

$0

$48,310,163

$91,240,255

$801,300,000

Indiana

$2,308,000

$362,500

$0

$1,609,188

$4,279,688

$143,000,000

Iowa

$3,990,000

$765,050

$0

$508,500

$5,263,550

$474,700,000

Kansas

$1,903,000

$240,504

$25,000

$2,752,432

$4,920,936

$0

$23,906,525

$1,311,460

$0

$6,578,312

$31,796,297

$305,500,000

Louisiana

$10,655,603

$846,270

$0

$3,372,418

$14,874,291

$1,681,000,000

Maine

$15,058,856

$891,951

$3,366,418

$1,481,251

$20,798,476

$606,000,000

Maryland

$16,548,360

$1,053,524

$176,040

$2,330,221

$20,108,145

$1,448,000,000

Massachusetts

$22,823,200

$4,937,519

$0

$7,656,879

$35,417,598

$1,153,000,000

Kentucky

Michigan

$9,115,000

$527,404

$1,272,908

$1,232,686

$12,147,998

$280,000,000

Minnesota

$26,077,360

$3,445,615

$4,253,513

$7,574,807

$41,351,295

$1,008,000,000

Mississippi

$12,291,250

$323,376

$0

$2,544,437

$15,159,063

$70,000,000

Missouri

$2,310,109

$259,824

$0

$6,148,034

$8,717,967

$1,172,000,000

Montana

$4,537,145

$1,935,066

$1,184,279

$315,962

$7,972,452

$70,000,000

Nebraska

$350,000

$1,604,628

$265,000

$97,832

$2,317,460

$23,000,000

Nevada

$0

$581,452

$0

$339,200

$920,652

$0

New Hampshire

$11,565,000

$93,425

$0

$1,132,000

$12,790,425

$65,000,000

New Jersey

$14,226,064

$1,206,469

$0

$5,962,390

$21,394,923

$413,000,000

New Mexico

$9,313,011

$1,589,665

$907,699

$185,705

$11,996,080

$110,000,000

New York

$96,926,627

$10,830,431

$208,390

$52,220,326

$160,185,774

$3,429,250,000

North Carolina

$34,009,523

$2,457,205

$2,405,020

$28,766,498

$67,638,246

$830,000,000

$635,000

$669,520

$716,245

$15,000

$2,035,765

$0

$11,719,620

$2,073,058

$0

$3,755,203

$17,547,881

$1,363,000,000

North Dakota
Ohio
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State

Oklahoma

FA Awards

$4,734,190

TA/SECA
Awards

Total Awards
From
NMTC
BEA Awards Inception
Allocations (2)

Native Initiative
Awards (1)

$599,550

$4,996,777

$2,401,680

$12,732,197

$400,000,000

Oregon

$10,051,250

$529,001

$122,561

$6,569,895

$17,272,707

$461,500,000

Pennsylvania

$47,699,971

$5,062,913

$0

$2,038,828

$54,801,712

$657,500,000

Puerto Rico

$1,300,000

$988,041

$0

$0

$2,288,041

$55,000,000

Rhode Island

$750,000

$389,900

$0

$0

$1,139,900

$0

South Carolina

$500,000

$992,338

$149,281

$2,211,905

$3,853,524

$349,000,000

South Dakota

$8,166,403

$677,932

$8,704,551

$722,250

$18,271,136

$130,000,000

Tennessee

$11,323,178

$177,600

$95,000

$5,025,766

$16,621,544

$65,250,000

Texas

$21,737,267

$4,827,209

$32,756

$15,247,856

$41,845,088

$247,000,000

Utah

$2,000,000

$892,500

$353,000

$120,000

$3,365,500

$100,000,000

$770,000

$0

$0

$0

$770,000

$0

U.S. Virgin Islands
Vermont

$15,570,549

$490,055

$0

$0

$16,060,604

$32,000,000

Virginia

$7,294,385

$1,523,076

$0

$76,739

$8,894,200

$711,000,000

$10,651,250

$1,836,815

$2,591,789

$3,080,991

$18,160,845

$280,000,000

Washington
West Virginia

$2,439,000

$931,768

$0

$0

$3,370,768

$4,000,000

Wisconsin

$15,206,986

$1,079,103

$2,309,724

$6,256,010

$24,851,823

$1,251,000,000

Wyoming

$0

$0

$2,124,366

$0

$2,124,366

$0

TOTALS
$690,264,542
$79,470,537
$47,468,029
$311,634,361
$1,128,837,469
$26,000,000,000
(1) Consists of awards made under all Native American Programs.
(2) Consists of New Markets Tax Credit (NMTC) allocatees headquarted in these states. Amounts
shown represent amount of equity supported by tax credits. Amounts include FY2008 NMTC
Supplemental and Appropriated rounds. FY2009 NMTC Awards have not been made as of
09/11/09.
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Appendix C: Glossary of Terms
ALLOCATION (OF TAX CREDITS)
Through the New Markets Tax Credit Program, the CDFI Fund provides a Community
Development Entity with the authority to sell tax credits to investors in exchange for an
investment in the CDE.
BANK
Any organization engaged in any or all of the various functions of banking, i.e., receiving,
collecting, transferring, paying, lending, investing, dealing, exchanging, and servicing (safe
deposit, custodianship, agency, trusteeship) money and claims to money both domestically and
internationally.
In its more specific sense, the term bank refers to institutions providing deposit facilities for the
general public, including insured depository institutions. Banking institutions may be classified
into two broad groups: 1) commercial banks and their central banks; and 2) noncommercial
bank institutions. Included in the latter group are such institutions as savings and loan
associations, mutual savings banks, and credit unions. These institutions are often referred to as
thrift institutions, although commercial banks also provide savings and time deposit accounts.
BANK ENTERPRISE AWARD (BEA) PROGRAM
Through the BEA Program, the CDFI Fund provides awards to insured depository institutions
that increase their levels of activity in the form of loans, investments, services, and technical
assistance within distressed communities.
BEA Program awardees can also provide financial assistance to CDFIs through grants, stock
purchases, loans, deposits, and other forms of financial and technical assistance. In general, an
award is made based on the lender’s success in certain BEA Program-qualified activities that
were projected in the application for BEA CDFI Funds. The BEA Program regulations are found
at 12 CFR Part 1806.
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ENTITY (CDE)
Through the New Markets Tax Credit Program, the CDFI Fund certifies an entity as a CDE if it is
a duly organized entity that is treated as a domestic corporation or partnership for federal income
tax purposes and that 1) has a primary mission of serving, or providing investment capital for,
low-income communities or low-income persons; and 2) maintains accountability to residents of
low-income communities through their representation on any governing board of the entity.
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FINANCIAL INSTITUTION (CDFI)
A CDFI is a nongovernmental entity that meets the following eligibility criteria and is certified by
the CDFI Fund as such:
1. Has a primary mission of promoting community development;
2. Serves an eligible investment area or targeted population;
3. Has a predominant business activity of providing financial products, loans or certain equity
investments;
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4. In conjunction with its loans or development investments, provides development activities and
services that promote community development (eg. financial management technical assistance,
financial or credit counseling); and
5. Maintains accountability to residents of the investment area or targeted population through
representation on its governing board or otherwise.
Additional eligibility criteria apply if the entity is a depository institution holding company or
an insured depository institution. The CDFI Fund’s requirements for CDFI certification and
eligibility are found at 12 CFR 1805.200.
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (CDFI) FUND
A government corporation within the Department of the Treasury, created to promote
economic revitalization and community development through investment in and assistance to
CDFIs, including enhancing their liquidity. It was created by Congress and has the duties and
responsibilities specified in the Riegle Community Development and Regulatory Improvement
Act of 1994.
COMMUNITY INVESTMENT IMPACT SYSTEM (CIIS)
CIIS is a Web-based system managed by the CDFI Fund that collects and stores institution-level
and transaction-level data from CDFIs and CDEs.
EQUITY
The raising of capital by a corporation issuing or selling its stock (in contrast with “debt,” which
is the raising of capital by issuing bonds or borrowing money).
CDFI FUNDING ROUND
Each CDFI Fund application and award is identified with a CDFI Funding round that
corresponds to the fiscal year for which the CDFI Fund issues a Notice of Awards Availability
(NOAA).
NATIVE AMERICAN CDFI
A Native American CDFI is defined as a CDFI with more than 50 percent of its activities directed
to Native American Communities. “Native American Communities” are defined as any Native
American, Alaska Native or Native Hawaiian populations, lands or Census-equivalent entities,
with the exception of State or Tribal Designated Statistical Areas.
NATIVE AMERICAN CDFI ASSISTANCE (NACA) PROGRAM
Introduced in FY 2004, the CDFI Fund provides Financial Assistance awards to eligible Native
American CDFIs to support their financing activities, as well as Technical Assistance awards to
existing Native CDFIs and Native organizations seeking to become or to create a CDFI. In FY
2005, the NACA Program replaced the NACD and NATA Programs.
NATIVE AMERICAN CDFI DEVELOPMENT (NACD) PROGRAM
Replaced by the NACA Program in FY 2005, the Native American CDFI Development (NACD)
Program provided Technical Assistance grants to “sponsoring organizations,” such as Tribes or
entities primarily serving Native American Communities, to help create Native American CDFIs.
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NATIVE AMERICAN TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE (NATA) COMPONENT
Replaced by the NACA Program in FY 2005, the Native American Technical Assistance (NATA)
Component was similar to the NACD Program, the difference being that the NATA Component
was limited to CDFIs and entities proposing to become CDFIs. NATA grants were provided as
part of the Technical Assistance Component of the CDFI Program.
NEW MARKETS TAX CREDIT (NMTC) PROGRAM
Through the NMTC Program, the CDFI Fund provides allocations of tax credits to qualified
Community Development Entities (CDEs). The CDEs in turn provide tax credits to private
sector investors in exchange for their investment dollars; investment proceeds received by the
CDEs are to be used to make loans and equity investments in low-income communities.
QUALIFIED EQUITY INVESTMENT (QEI)
An investment in a CDE through the NMTC Program meeting the following criteria: the
investment proceeds are used by the CDE to make Qualified Low-Income Community
Investments (QLICIs), the CDE designates the investment as a QEI, and the investment is made
by the CDE within 5 years from the date of its NMTC allocation.
QUALIFIED LOW-INCOME COMMUNITY INVESTMENT (QLICI)
1) An investment made by a CDE in, or a loan made to, any qualified active low-income
community business; 2) the purchase from a CDE of any such loan; 3) financial counseling and
other services to businesses in, and residents of, low-income communities; and 4) any equity
investment in, or loan to, any CDE.
TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE
Activities that enhance the capacity of an organization to carry out its business and purpose,
such as training of management and other personnel; developing programs and loan or
investment loan products; improving financial management and internal operations; and
enhancing an organization’s community impact.
UNDERSERVED COMMUNITY
An Underserved Community may include the following: 1) an Investment Area under the CDFI
Program; 2) a Targeted Population under the CDFI Program; 3) a Low-Income Community
under the NMTC Program; and/or 4) a Distressed Community under the BEA Program. Many
Native American Communities also qualify as Underserved Communities.
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06WUHHW1:
:DVKLQJWRQ'&

,QGHSHQGHQW$XGLWRUV¶5HSRUW

,QVSHFWRU*HQHUDO
86'HSDUWPHQWRIWKH7UHDVXU\
'LUHFWRU
&RPPXQLW\'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO,QVWLWXWLRQV)XQG
:H KDYH DXGLWHG WKH DFFRPSDQ\LQJ VWDWHPHQWV RI ILQDQFLDO SRVLWLRQ RI WKH 86 'HSDUWPHQW RI WKH
7UHDVXU\¶V&RPPXQLW\'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO,QVWLWXWLRQV)XQG WKH)XQG DVRI6HSWHPEHUDQG
 DQG WKH UHODWHG VWDWHPHQWV RI RSHUDWLRQV DQG FKDQJHV LQ QHW SRVLWLRQ DQG FDVK IORZV KHUHLQDIWHU
UHIHUUHGWRDV³)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV´ IRUWKH\HDUHQGHG6HSWHPEHU7KHVH)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV
DUH WKH UHVSRQVLELOLW\ RI WKH )XQG¶V PDQDJHPHQW 2XU UHVSRQVLELOLW\ LV WR H[SUHVV DQ RSLQLRQ RQ WKHVH
)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWVEDVHGRQRXUDXGLWV:HZHUHQRWHQJDJHGWRDXGLWWKHDFFRPSDQ\LQJVWDWHPHQWVRI
RSHUDWLRQV DQG FKDQJHV LQ QHW SRVLWLRQ DQG FDVK IORZV IRU WKH \HDU HQGHG 6HSWHPEHU   DQG
WKHUHIRUHZHGRQRWH[SUHVVDQRSLQLRQRQWKRVHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
:HFRQGXFWHGRXUDXGLWVLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWKDXGLWLQJVWDQGDUGVJHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGLQWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVRI
$PHULFDWKHVWDQGDUGVDSSOLFDEOHWRILQDQFLDODXGLWVFRQWDLQHGLQ*RYHUQPHQW$XGLWLQJ6WDQGDUGVLVVXHG
E\WKH&RPSWUROOHU*HQHUDORIWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVDQG2IILFHRI0DQDJHPHQWDQG%XGJHW 20% %XOOHWLQ
1R$XGLW5HTXLUHPHQWVIRU)HGHUDO)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWVDVDPHQGHG7KRVHVWDQGDUGVDQG20%
%XOOHWLQ 1R UHTXLUH WKDW ZH SODQ DQG SHUIRUP WKH DXGLWV WR REWDLQ UHDVRQDEOH DVVXUDQFH DERXW
ZKHWKHU WKH )LQDQFLDO 6WDWHPHQWV DUH IUHH RI PDWHULDO PLVVWDWHPHQW $Q DXGLW LQFOXGHV FRQVLGHUDWLRQ RI
LQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJDVDEDVLVIRUGHVLJQLQJDXGLWSURFHGXUHVWKDWDUHDSSURSULDWHLQWKH
FLUFXPVWDQFHVEXWQRWIRUWKHSXUSRVHRIH[SUHVVLQJDQRSLQLRQRQWKHHIIHFWLYHQHVVRIWKH)XQG¶VLQWHUQDO
FRQWURO RYHU ILQDQFLDO UHSRUWLQJ $FFRUGLQJO\ ZH H[SUHVV QR VXFK RSLQLRQ $Q DXGLW DOVR LQFOXGHV
H[DPLQLQJ RQ D WHVW EDVLV HYLGHQFH VXSSRUWLQJ WKH DPRXQWV DQG GLVFORVXUHV LQ WKH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV
DVVHVVLQJ WKH DFFRXQWLQJ SULQFLSOHV XVHG DQG VLJQLILFDQW HVWLPDWHV PDGH E\ PDQDJHPHQW DV ZHOO DV
HYDOXDWLQJ WKH RYHUDOO ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQW SUHVHQWDWLRQ :H EHOLHYH WKDW RXU DXGLWV SURYLGH D UHDVRQDEOH
EDVLVIRURXURSLQLRQ
,Q RXU RSLQLRQ WKH )LQDQFLDO 6WDWHPHQWV UHIHUUHG WR DERYH SUHVHQW IDLUO\ LQ DOO PDWHULDO UHVSHFWV WKH
ILQDQFLDO SRVLWLRQ RI WKH &RPPXQLW\ 'HYHORSPHQW )LQDQFLDO ,QVWLWXWLRQV )XQG DV RI 6HSWHPEHU 
DQG  DQG WKH UHVXOWV RI LWV RSHUDWLRQV DQG FDVK IORZV IRU WKH \HDU HQGHG 6HSWHPEHU   LQ
FRQIRUPLW\ZLWK86JHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOHV
$V GLVFXVVHG LQ 1RWH  WR WKH )LQDQFLDO 6WDWHPHQWV WKH )XQG DGRSWHG WKH SURYLVLRQV RI WKH )LQDQFLDO
$FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV %RDUG¶V $FFRXQWLQJ 6WDQGDUGV &RGLILFDWLRQ 7RSLF  )DLU 9DOXH 0HDVXUHPHQWV
DQG'LVFORVXUHVHIIHFWLYH2FWREHU
7KH LQIRUPDWLRQ LQ WKH &RPPXQLW\ 'HYHORSPHQW )LQDQFLDO ,QVWLWXWLRQV )XQG 2YHUYLHZ 3URJUDP
'LVFXVVLRQ DQG $QDO\VLV DQG 6WDWXV RI )LQDQFLDO 0DQDJHPHQW VHFWLRQV LV SUHVHQWHG IRU SXUSRVHV RI
DGGLWLRQDODQDO\VLVDQGLVQRWUHTXLUHGDVSDUWRIWKH)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV:HKDYHDSSOLHGFHUWDLQOLPLWHG
SURFHGXUHVZKLFKFRQVLVWHGSULQFLSDOO\RILQTXLULHVRIPDQDJHPHQWUHJDUGLQJWKHPHWKRGVRIPHDVXUHPHQW
DQGSUHVHQWDWLRQRIWKLVLQIRUPDWLRQ


.30*//3D86OLPLWHGOLDELOLW\SDUWQHUVKLSLVWKH86
PHPEHUILUPRI.30*,QWHUQDWLRQDOD6ZLVVFRRSHUDWLYH
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+RZHYHU ZH GLG QRW DXGLW WKLV LQIRUPDWLRQ DQG DFFRUGLQJO\ ZH H[SUHVV QR RSLQLRQ RQ LW &HUWDLQ
LQIRUPDWLRQ SUHVHQWHG LQ WKH &RPPXQLW\ 'HYHORSPHQW )LQDQFLDO ,QVWLWXWLRQV )XQG 2YHUYLHZ 3URJUDP
'LVFXVVLRQ DQG $QDO\VLV DQG 6WDWXV RI )LQDQFLDO 0DQDJHPHQW VHFWLRQV LV EDVHG RQ WKH ILVFDO \HDU 
VWDWHPHQWVRIRSHUDWLRQVDQGFKDQJHVLQQHWSRVLWLRQDQGFDVKIORZVWKDWZHZHUHQRWHQJDJHGWRDXGLW
7KHLQIRUPDWLRQLQWKHDSSHQGLFHVLVSUHVHQWHGIRUSXUSRVHVRIDGGLWLRQDODQDO\VLVDQGLVQRWUHTXLUHGDV
SDUW RI WKH )LQDQFLDO 6WDWHPHQWV 7KLV LQIRUPDWLRQ KDV QRW EHHQ VXEMHFWHG WR DXGLWLQJ SURFHGXUHV DQG
DFFRUGLQJO\ZHH[SUHVVQRRSLQLRQRQLW
,QDFFRUGDQFHZLWK*RYHUQPHQW$XGLWLQJ6WDQGDUGVZHKDYHDOVRLVVXHGRXUUHSRUWVGDWHG1RYHPEHU
 RQ RXU FRQVLGHUDWLRQ RI WKH )XQG¶V LQWHUQDO FRQWURO RYHU ILQDQFLDO UHSRUWLQJ DQG RXU WHVWV RI LWV
FRPSOLDQFHZLWKFHUWDLQSURYLVLRQVRIODZVUHJXODWLRQVFRQWUDFWVJUDQWDJUHHPHQWVDQGRWKHUPDWWHUV7KH
SXUSRVHRIWKRVHUHSRUWVLVWRGHVFULEHWKHVFRSHRIRXUWHVWLQJRILQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJ
DQGFRPSOLDQFHDQGWKHUHVXOWVRIWKDWWHVWLQJDQGQRWWRSURYLGHDQRSLQLRQRQWKHLQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHU
ILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJRURQFRPSOLDQFH7KRVHUHSRUWVDUHDQLQWHJUDOSDUWRIDQDXGLWSHUIRUPHGLQDFFRUGDQFH
ZLWK *RYHUQPHQW$XGLWLQJ6WDQGDUGVDQGVKRXOGEH UHDG LQFRQMXQFWLRQZLWK WKLV UHSRUW LQDVVHVVLQJ WKH
UHVXOWVRIRXUDXGLWV

1RYHPEHU
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,QGHSHQGHQW$XGLWRUV¶5HSRUWRQ,QWHUQDO&RQWURO2YHU)LQDQFLDO5HSRUWLQJ
,QVSHFWRU*HQHUDO
86'HSDUWPHQWRIWKH7UHDVXU\
'LUHFWRU
&RPPXQLW\'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO,QVWLWXWLRQV)XQG
:HKDYHDXGLWHGWKHVWDWHPHQWVRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQRIWKH86'HSDUWPHQWRIWKH7UHDVXU\¶V&RPPXQLW\
'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO ,QVWLWXWLRQV )XQG WKH )XQG DV RI 6HSWHPEHU DQG  DQG WKH UHODWHG
VWDWHPHQWVRIRSHUDWLRQVDQGFKDQJHVLQQHWSRVLWLRQDQGFDVKIORZV KHUHLQDIWHUUHIHUUHGWRDV³)LQDQFLDO
6WDWHPHQWV´  IRU WKH \HDU HQGHG 6HSWHPEHU   DQG KDYH LVVXHG RXU UHSRUW WKHUHRQ GDWHG
1RYHPEHU  :H ZHUH QRW HQJDJHG WR DXGLW WKH VWDWHPHQWV RI RSHUDWLRQV DQG FKDQJHV LQ QHW
SRVLWLRQ DQG FDVK IORZV IRU WKH \HDU HQGHG 6HSWHPEHU   DQG WKHUHIRUH ZH GLG QRW H[SUHVV DQ
RSLQLRQ RQ WKRVH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV $V GLVFXVVHG LQ 1RWH  WR WKH )LQDQFLDO 6WDWHPHQWV WKH )XQG
DGRSWHGWKHSURYLVLRQVRIWKH)LQDQFLDO$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGV%RDUG¶V$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGV&RGLILFDWLRQ
7RSLF)DLU9DOXH0HDVXUHPHQWVDQG'LVFORVXUHVHIIHFWLYH2FWREHU
:HFRQGXFWHGRXUDXGLWVLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWKDXGLWLQJVWDQGDUGVJHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGLQWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVRI
$PHULFDWKHVWDQGDUGVDSSOLFDEOHWRILQDQFLDODXGLWVFRQWDLQHGLQ*RYHUQPHQW$XGLWLQJ6WDQGDUGVLVVXHG
E\WKH&RPSWUROOHU*HQHUDORIWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVDQG2IILFHRI0DQDJHPHQWDQG%XGJHW 20% %XOOHWLQ
1R$XGLW5HTXLUHPHQWVIRU)HGHUDO)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWVDVDPHQGHG7KRVHVWDQGDUGVDQG20%
%XOOHWLQ 1R UHTXLUH WKDW ZH SODQ DQG SHUIRUP WKH DXGLWV WR REWDLQ UHDVRQDEOH DVVXUDQFH DERXW
ZKHWKHUWKH)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWVDUHIUHHRIPDWHULDOPLVVWDWHPHQW
7KHPDQDJHPHQWRIWKH)XQGLVUHVSRQVLEOHIRUHVWDEOLVKLQJDQGPDLQWDLQLQJHIIHFWLYHLQWHUQDOFRQWURO,Q
SODQQLQJ DQG SHUIRUPLQJ RXU ILVFDO \HDU  DXGLW ZH FRQVLGHUHG WKH )XQG¶V LQWHUQDO FRQWURO RYHU
ILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJE\REWDLQLQJDQXQGHUVWDQGLQJRIWKHGHVLJQHIIHFWLYHQHVVRIWKH)XQG¶VLQWHUQDOFRQWURO
GHWHUPLQLQJZKHWKHULQWHUQDOFRQWUROVKDGEHHQSODFHGLQRSHUDWLRQDVVHVVLQJFRQWUROULVNDQGSHUIRUPLQJ
WHVWVRIFRQWUROVDVDEDVLVIRUGHVLJQLQJRXUDXGLWLQJSURFHGXUHVIRUWKHSXUSRVHRIH[SUHVVLQJRXURSLQLRQ
RQ WKH )LQDQFLDO 6WDWHPHQWV 7R DFKLHYH WKLV SXUSRVH ZH GLG QRW WHVW DOO LQWHUQDO FRQWUROV UHOHYDQW WR
RSHUDWLQJ REMHFWLYHV DV EURDGO\ GHILQHG E\ WKH )HGHUDO 0DQDJHUV¶ )LQDQFLDO ,QWHJULW\ $FW RI  7KH
REMHFWLYHRIRXUDXGLWZDVQRWWRH[SUHVVDQRSLQLRQRQWKHHIIHFWLYHQHVVRIWKH)XQG¶VLQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHU
ILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJ$FFRUGLQJO\ZHGRQRWH[SUHVVDQRSLQLRQRQWKHHIIHFWLYHQHVVRIWKH)XQG¶VLQWHUQDO
FRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJ
2XUFRQVLGHUDWLRQRILQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJZDVIRUWKHOLPLWHGSXUSRVHGHVFULEHGLQWKH
SUHFHGLQJSDUDJUDSKDQGZDVQRWGHVLJQHGWRLGHQWLI\DOOGHILFLHQFLHVLQWKHLQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDO
UHSRUWLQJWKDWPLJKWEHGHILFLHQFLHVVLJQLILFDQWGHILFLHQFLHVRUPDWHULDOZHDNQHVVHV
$ GHILFLHQF\ LQ LQWHUQDO FRQWURO H[LVWV ZKHQ WKH GHVLJQ RU RSHUDWLRQ RI D FRQWURO GRHV QRW DOORZ
PDQDJHPHQW RU HPSOR\HHV LQ WKH QRUPDO FRXUVH RI SHUIRUPLQJ WKHLU DVVLJQHG IXQFWLRQV WR SUHYHQW RU
GHWHFW DQG FRUUHFW PLVVWDWHPHQWV RQ D WLPHO\ EDVLV $ VLJQLILFDQW GHILFLHQF\ LV D GHILFLHQF\ RU D
FRPELQDWLRQRIGHILFLHQFLHVLQLQWHUQDOFRQWUROWKDWLVOHVVVHYHUHWKDQDPDWHULDOZHDNQHVV\HWLPSRUWDQW


.30*//3D86OLPLWHGOLDELOLW\SDUWQHUVKLSLVWKH86
PHPEHUILUPRI.30*,QWHUQDWLRQDOD6ZLVVFRRSHUDWLYH
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HQRXJK WR PHULW DWWHQWLRQ E\ WKRVH FKDUJHG ZLWK JRYHUQDQFH $ PDWHULDO ZHDNQHVV LV D GHILFLHQF\ RU
FRPELQDWLRQ RIGHILFLHQFLHVLQLQWHUQDOFRQWUROVXFKWKDWWKHUHLVDUHDVRQDEOHSRVVLELOLW\WKDWDPDWHULDO
PLVVWDWHPHQW RI WKH HQWLW\¶V ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV ZLOO QRW EH SUHYHQWHG RU GHWHFWHG DQG FRUUHFWHG RQ D
WLPHO\EDVLV
,Q RXU ILVFDO \HDU  DXGLW ZH GLG QRW LGHQWLI\ DQ\ GHILFLHQFLHV LQ LQWHUQDO FRQWURO RYHU ILQDQFLDO
UHSRUWLQJ WKDW ZH FRQVLGHU WR EH PDWHULDO ZHDNQHVVHV DV GHILQHG DERYH +RZHYHU ZH LGHQWLILHG FHUWDLQ
GHILFLHQFLHVLQLQWHUQDOFRQWURORYHUILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJWKDWZHFRQVLGHUWREHVLJQLILFDQWGHILFLHQFLHVWKDW
DUHGHVFULEHGLQ([KLELW,([KLELW,,,SUHVHQWVWKHVWDWXVRISULRU\HDUVLJQLILFDQWGHILFLHQFLHV
0DQDJHPHQW¶VUHVSRQVHVWRWKHILQGLQJVLGHQWLILHGLQRXUDXGLWDUHSUHVHQWHGLQ([KLELW,,:HGLGQRWDXGLW
WKH)XQG¶VUHVSRQVHDQGDFFRUGLQJO\ZHH[SUHVVQRRSLQLRQRQLW
:HQRWHGRQHDGGLWLRQDOPDWWHUWKDWZHKDYHUHSRUWHGWRPDQDJHPHQWRIWKH)XQGLQDVHSDUDWHOHWWHUGDWHG
1RYHPEHU
7KLVUHSRUWLVLQWHQGHGVROHO\IRUWKHLQIRUPDWLRQDQGXVHRIWKH)XQG¶VPDQDJHPHQWWKH'HSDUWPHQWRIWKH
7UHDVXU\¶V2IILFHRI,QVSHFWRU*HQHUDO 20%WKH86 *RYHUQPHQW$FFRXQWDELOLW\2IILFH DQGWKH86
&RQJUHVVDQGLVQRWLQWHQGHGWREHDQGVKRXOGQRWEHXVHGE\DQ\RQHRWKHUWKDQWKHVHVSHFLILHGSDUWLHV

1RYHPEHU
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([KLELW,
&RPPXQLW\'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO,QVWLWXWLRQ)XQG
6LJQLILFDQW'HILFLHQFLHVDQG5HFRPPHQGDWLRQV
,PSURYHPHQWVDUHQHHGHGLQWKHDFFRXQWLQJSURFHVVIRUHVWLPDWLQJORDQORVVUHVHUYHV
7KH&RPPXQLW\'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO,QVWLWXWLRQV)XQG WKH)XQG GLGQRWKDYHWKHQHFHVVDU\SURFHVVHV
WR WUDFN DQG UHFRQFLOH DFWXDO WR H[SHFWHG ORDQ SULQFLSDO DQG LQWHUHVW DFWLYLWLHV LQFOXGLQJ WKH HIIHFWV RI
UHQHJRWLDWLRQV DQG UHVFKHGXOLQJ RI VXFK SD\PHQWV )XUWKHU WKH SROLFLHV DQG SURFHGXUHV WR UHFRJQL]H WKH
DOORZDQFHIRUORDQORVVHVKDGQRWEHHQUHYLVLWHGDQGUHYLVHGWRFRQVLGHUFKDQJLQJFLUFXPVWDQFHV7KH)XQG
KLVWRULFDOO\ XVHG D GHIDXOW DOORZDQFH UDWH RI  ZKLFK ZDV RULJLQDOO\ QHJRWLDWHG E\ WKH 2IILFH RI
0DQDJHPHQW DQG %XGJHW ZLWK WKH )XQG WR EH XVHG LI DGHTXDWH KLVWRULFDO LQIRUPDWLRQ ZDV QRW DYDLODEOH
'XULQJ WKH PDMRULW\ RI ILVFDO \HDU  WKH )XQG FRQWLQXHG WR XVH WKLV UDWH HYHQ WKRXJK VRPH SD\PHQW
KLVWRU\LVQRZDYDLODEOH
,Q DGGLWLRQ PDQDJHPHQW KDG QRW HYDOXDWHG WKH FROOHFWLRQ KLVWRU\ RI WKH )XQG¶V ORDQV WR GHWHUPLQH WKH
SRWHQWLDOLPSDFWRQWKHDOORZDQFHIRUORDQORVVHVQRUKDGLWSHUIRUPHGDQ\RWKHUDQDO\VHVWRGHWHUPLQHLI
DQ\ORDQVZHUHLPSDLUHG
)LQDQFLDO$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGV%RDUG )$6% $FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGV&RGLILFDWLRQ $6& 6HFWLRQ
VWDWHV³6XEWRSLFUHTXLUHVUHFRJQLWLRQRIDORVVZKHQERWKRIWKHIROORZLQJFRQGLWLRQVDUHPHWD 
,QIRUPDWLRQDYDLODEOHEHIRUHWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDUHLVVXHGRUDUHDYDLODEOHWREHLVVXHG DVGLVFXVVHG
LQ 6HFWLRQ   LQGLFDWHV WKDW LW LV SUREDEOH WKDW DQ DVVHW KDV EHHQ LPSDLUHG DW WKH GDWH RI WKH
ILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQGE 7KHDPRXQWRIWKHORVVFDQEHUHDVRQDEO\HVWLPDWHG/RVVHVIURPXQFROOHFWLEOH
UHFHLYDEOHV VKDOO EH DFFUXHG ZKHQ ERWK RI WKH SUHFHGLQJ FRQGLWLRQV DUH PHW 7KRVH FRQGLWLRQV PD\ EH
FRQVLGHUHGLQUHODWLRQWRLQGLYLGXDOUHFHLYDEOHVRULQUHODWLRQWRJURXSVRIVLPLODUW\SHVRIUHFHLYDEOHV,I
WKHFRQGLWLRQVDUHPHWDFFUXDOVKDOOEHPDGHHYHQWKRXJKWKHSDUWLFXODUUHFHLYDEOHVWKDWDUHXQFROOHFWLEOH
PD\QRWEHLGHQWLILDEOH´
)$6% $6& 6HFWLRQ  DOVR VWDWHV ³:KHQ D ORDQ LV LPSDLUHG« D FUHGLWRU VKDOO PHDVXUH
LPSDLUPHQW EDVHG RQ WKH SUHVHQW YDOXH RI H[SHFWHG IXWXUH FDVK IORZV GLVFRXQWHG DW WKH ORDQ V HIIHFWLYH
LQWHUHVW UDWH H[FHSW WKDW DV D SUDFWLFDO H[SHGLHQW D FUHGLWRU PD\ PHDVXUH LPSDLUPHQW EDVHG RQ D ORDQ V
REVHUYDEOH PDUNHW SULFH RU WKH IDLU YDOXH RI WKH FROODWHUDO LI WKH ORDQ LV D FROODWHUDOGHSHQGHQW ORDQ´ ,W
IXUWKHUVWDWHV³,IWKHSUHVHQWYDOXHRIH[SHFWHGIXWXUHFDVKIORZV RUDOWHUQDWLYHO\WKHREVHUYDEOHPDUNHW
SULFH RI WKH ORDQ RU WKH IDLU YDOXH RI WKH FROODWHUDO  LV OHVV WKDQ WKH UHFRUGHG LQYHVWPHQW LQ WKH ORDQ
LQFOXGLQJ DFFUXHG LQWHUHVW QHW GHIHUUHG ORDQ IHHV RU FRVWV DQG XQDPRUWL]HG SUHPLXP RU GLVFRXQW  D
FUHGLWRUVKDOOUHFRJQL]HDQLPSDLUPHQWE\FUHDWLQJDYDOXDWLRQDOORZDQFHZLWKDFRUUHVSRQGLQJFKDUJHWR
EDGGHEW H[SHQVH RU E\ DGMXVWLQJ DQ H[LVWLQJ YDOXDWLRQ DOORZDQFH IRU WKH LPSDLUHG ORDQ ZLWK D
FRUUHVSRQGLQJFKDUJHRUFUHGLWWREDGGHEWH[SHQVH´
,QLWLDOORDQVHWXSGHWDLOVZHUHVKDUHGZLWKWKH%XUHDXRI3XEOLF'HEW %3' KRZHYHUPDQDJHPHQWGRHV
QRW UHFRQFLOH H[SHFWHG SD\PHQWV WR WKH DFWXDO SD\PHQWV SURFHVVHG DQG UHSRUWHG E\ %3' )XUWKHU
PDQDJHPHQW KDG QRW FRQVLGHUHG WKH QHHG WR UHHYDOXDWH LWV DFFRXQWLQJ SROLFLHV DQG SURFHGXUHV IRU
DQDO\]LQJ LWVDOORZDQFHIRUORDQORVVHV ,QDGGLWLRQPDQDJHPHQW KDGQRWIXOO\ LPSOHPHQWHG )$6% $6&
6HFWLRQSDUWLFXODUO\WKHDVSHFWVRILPSDLUPHQWUHFRJQLWLRQDQGFRPSXWDWLRQ
$VDUHVXOWRIWKHGHILFLHQFLHVQRWHGDERYHPDQDJHPHQWZDVQRWDEOHWRDFFXUDWHO\GHWHUPLQHWKHLPSDFWRI
ORDQ UHVWUXFWXULQJ RQ WKH UHODWHG ORDQ EDODQFHV DQG LQWHUHVW LQFRPH 1RU ZDV PDQDJHPHQW DEOH WR
UHDVRQDEO\ HVWLPDWH LWV DOORZDQFH IRU ORDQ ORVVHV LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK 86 JHQHUDOO\ DFFHSWHG DFFRXQWLQJ
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([KLELW,
SULQFLSOHV:HGLGQRWHWKDWPDQDJHPHQWEHJDQUHYLVLQJLWVSURFHVVIRUHYDOXDWLQJWKHDOORZDQFHIRUORDQ
ORVVHVDQGZDVDEOHWRFDOFXODWHDUHDVRQDEOHHVWLPDWHIRULWV6HSWHPEHUILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
5HFRPPHQGDWLRQV
:H UHFRPPHQG WKDW PDQDJHPHQW GHYHORS D ORDQ VXEOHGJHU V\VWHP DQG LPSOHPHQW UHYLVHG SROLFLHV DQG
SURFHGXUHV IRU HVWLPDWLQJ WKH DOORZDQFH IRU ORDQ ORVVHV 6SHFLILFDOO\ PDQDJHPHQW VKRXOG SHUIRUP WKH
IROORZLQJ
 'HYHORS D PHFKDQLVP SURFHGXUHV DQG V\VWHPV  WR FDSWXUH WKH FRQWUDFWXDO WHUPV DQG VFKHGXOHG
H[SHFWHG SD\PHQWV RI )XQG ORDQV DQG WR HQDEOH WKH HYDOXDWLRQ DQG UHFRQFLOLDWLRQ RI WKH DFWXDO
SD\PHQWVUHFHLYHG
 8VH WKH V\VWHP DERYH WR SHUIRUP DQDO\VHV RI WKH ORDQ SRUWIROLR DQG SD\PHQW KLVWRU\ WR UHJXODUO\
LGHQWLI\SDVWGXHDQGGHOLQTXHQWORDQVWKDWQHHGWREHHYDOXDWHGIRUFROOHFWLELOLW\E\FDWHJRUL]LQJWKHP
LQWRULVNFDWHJRULHV
 3HUIRUP SHULRGLF DVVHVVPHQWV RI WKH FROOHFWLELOLW\ RI ORDQV DQG PDNH DSSURSULDWH DGMXVWPHQWV WR WKH
DOORZDQFHDVQHFHVVDU\LQDFFRUGDQFHZLWK86JHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGDFFRXQWHGSULQFLSOHV
,PSURYHPHQWVDUHQHHGHGLQWKHDFFRXQWLQJIRULQYHVWPHQWV
'XULQJRXUILVFDO\HDUWHVWLQJRILQYHVWPHQWVZHQRWHGFHUWDLQGHILFLHQFLHVLQWKH)XQG¶VDFFRXQWLQJ
IRULQYHVWPHQWV6SHFLILFDOO\ZHQRWHGWKHIROORZLQJ
x 7KH )XQG KDG LQYHVWPHQW LQWHUHVWV RI  RU PRUH LQ IRXU OLPLWHG SDUWQHUVKLSVOLPLWHG OLDELOLW\
FRPSDQLHVWKDWZHUHLQFRUUHFWO\DFFRXQWHGIRUDWLPSDLUHGFRVWLQVWHDGRIWKHHTXLW\PHWKRGDVUHTXLUHG
E\86JHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOHV
x 2QH GHEW VHFXULW\ DQG VL[ VHFRQGDU\ FDSLWDO LQYHVWPHQWV KDG ]HUR RU EHORZ PDUNHW LQWHUHVW UDWHV
KRZHYHUWKH)XQGKDGQRWUHFRUGHGDSSURSULDWHGLVFRXQWVDQGUHFRJQL]HGLPSXWHGLQWHUHVWIRUWKHP
x 7KH VXSSRUWLQJ GRFXPHQWDWLRQ UHODWHG WR WKH YDOXDWLRQ DQDO\VLV IRU FHUWDLQ LQYHVWPHQWV QHHGV
LPSURYHPHQW)RULQVWDQFHDQDQDO\VLVIRURQHLQYHVWPHQWLQGLFDWHGWKDWXQGHURQHYDOXDWLRQPHWKRG
WKH FDUU\LQJ YDOXHV H[FHHGHG WKH HVWLPDWHG IDLU YDOXH E\ DSSUR[LPDWHO\  8QGHU DQRWKHU
HVWLPDWLRQPHWKRGWKHFDSLWDOL]HGFDVKIORZPHWKRGWKHUHZDVQRLQGLFDWHGH[FHVVRIFDUU\LQJYDOXH
RYHU IDLU YDOXH :KLOH PDQDJHPHQW¶V DQDO\VHV GLG DFNQRZOHGJH FHUWDLQ TXDOLWDWLYH DQG TXDQWLWDWLYH
IDFWRUVLQVXSSRUWRIWKHFDUULHGYDOXH HJWUHQGVLQUHFHQWRSHUDWLQJSHUIRUPDQFH WKHDQDO\VHVGLGQRW
DGHTXDWHO\ H[WHQG WKH GRFXPHQWDWLRQ WR NH\ DVSHFWV RI WKHLU PHWKRGRORJ\ HJ WKH VHOHFWHG
FDSLWDOL]DWLRQ UDWH LQ WKH FDSLWDOL]HG FDVK IORZ HYDOXDWLRQV SHUIRUPHG IRU DOO RI LWV LQYHVWPHQWV ZDV
XQVXSSRUWHG 
x :HQRWHGVHYHUDOLQVWDQFHVZKHUHWKH)XQGZURWHGRZQDQLPSDLUHGLQYHVWPHQWWRLWV³DSSUR[LPDWHIDLU
YDOXH´LQVWHDGRIWKHIDLUYDOXHWKDWZDVFDOFXODWHGXVLQJWKHDIRUHPHQWLRQHGPHWKRGV
x 7KH)XQGZURWHRIIDQLQYHVWPHQWLQ-DQXDU\KRZHYHUWKLVWUDQVDFWLRQZDVQRWUHFRUGHGLQWKH
JHQHUDOOHGJHUXQWLO$XJXVW
7KH)XQGZDVDEOHWRFRUUHFWWKHGHILFLHQFLHVLGHQWLILHGDERYHE\\HDUHQG
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([KLELW,
)$6%$6&6HFWLRQVWDWHV³,QYHVWRUVLQXQLQFRUSRUDWHGHQWLWLHVVXFKDVSDUWQHUVKLSVDQGRWKHU
XQLQFRUSRUDWHG MRLQW YHQWXUHV JHQHUDOO\ VKDOO DFFRXQW IRU WKHLU LQYHVWPHQWV XVLQJ WKH HTXLW\ PHWKRG RI
DFFRXQWLQJ«LI WKH LQYHVWRU KDV WKH DELOLW\ WR H[HUFLVH VLJQLILFDQW LQIOXHQFH RYHU WKH LQYHVWHH´ ,W IXUWKHU
VWDWHV³$QLQYHVWPHQWLQDOLPLWHGOLDELOLW\FRPSDQ\WKDWPDLQWDLQVDVSHFLILFRZQHUVKLSDFFRXQWIRUHDFK
LQYHVWRU²VLPLODUWRDSDUWQHUVKLSFDSLWDODFFRXQWVWUXFWXUH²VKDOOEHYLHZHGDVVLPLODUWRDQLQYHVWPHQWLQ
DOLPLWHGSDUWQHUVKLSIRUSXUSRVHVRIGHWHUPLQLQJZKHWKHUDQRQFRQWUROOLQJLQYHVWPHQWLQDOLPLWHGOLDELOLW\
FRPSDQ\VKDOOEHDFFRXQWHGIRUXVLQJWKHFRVWPHWKRGRUWKHHTXLW\PHWKRG´
)$6% $6& 6HFWLRQ 6 VWDWHV ³7KDW JXLGDQFH UHTXLUHV WKH XVH RI WKH HTXLW\ PHWKRG XQOHVV WKH
LQYHVWRU V LQWHUHVW µLV VR PLQRU WKDW WKH OLPLWHG SDUWQHU PD\ KDYH YLUWXDOO\ QR LQIOXHQFH RYHU SDUWQHUVKLS
RSHUDWLQJDQGILQDQFLDOSROLFLHV¶7KH6(&VWDIIXQGHUVWDQGVWKDWSUDFWLFHJHQHUDOO\KDVYLHZHGLQYHVWPHQWV
RIPRUHWKDQWRSHUFHQWWREHPRUHWKDQPLQRU´
)$6%$6&6HFWLRQVWDWHV³:KHQQRWHVDUHWUDGHGLQDQRSHQPDUNHWWKHPDUNHWUDWHRILQWHUHVW
DQG PDUNHW YDOXH RI WKH QRWHV SURYLGH WKH HYLGHQFH RI WKH SUHVHQW YDOXH 7KHVH PHWKRGV DUH SUHIHUDEOH
PHDQVRIHVWDEOLVKLQJWKH SUHVHQWYDOXH RIWKHQRWH,IDQ HVWDEOLVKHGH[FKDQJHSULFHLVQRW GHWHUPLQDEOH
DQGLIWKHQRWHKDVQRUHDG\PDUNHWWKHSUREOHPRIGHWHUPLQLQJSUHVHQWYDOXHLVPRUHGLIILFXOW7RHVWLPDWH
WKHSUHVHQWYDOXHRIDQRWHXQGHUVXFKFLUFXPVWDQFHVDQDSSOLFDEOHLQWHUHVWUDWHLVDSSUR[LPDWHGWKDWPD\
GLIIHUIURPWKHVWDWHGRUFRXSRQUDWH7KLVSURFHVVRIDSSUR[LPDWLRQLVFDOOHGLPSXWDWLRQDQGWKHUHVXOWLQJ
UDWHLVFDOOHGDQLPSXWHGLQWHUHVWUDWH1RQUHFRJQLWLRQRIDQDSSDUHQWO\VPDOOGLIIHUHQFHEHWZHHQWKHVWDWHG
UDWHRILQWHUHVWDQGWKHDSSOLFDEOHFXUUHQWUDWHPD\KDYHDPDWHULDOHIIHFWRQWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVLIWKH
IDFHDPRXQWRIWKHQRWHLVODUJHDQGLWVWHUPLVUHODWLYHO\ORQJ´
)$6%$6&6HFWLRQVWDWHV³$QLQYHVWPHQWLVLPSDLUHGLIWKHIDLUYDOXHRIWKHLQYHVWPHQWLVOHVV
WKDQLWVFRVW´
7KH 86 *RYHUQPHQW $FFRXQWDELOLW\ 2IILFH¶V *$2  6WDQGDUGV IRU ,QWHUQDO &RQWURO LQ WKH )HGHUDO
*RYHUQPHQW *$2$,0'  VWDWHV ³7UDQVDFWLRQV VKRXOGEH SURPSWO\ UHFRUGHG WRPDLQWDLQ WKHLU
UHOHYDQFH DQG YDOXH WR PDQDJHPHQW LQ FRQWUROOLQJ RSHUDWLRQV DQG PDNLQJ GHFLVLRQV 7KLV DSSOLHV WR WKH
HQWLUHSURFHVVRUOLIHF\FOHRIDWUDQVDFWLRQRUHYHQWIURPWKHLQLWLDWLRQDQGDXWKRUL]DWLRQWKURXJKLWVILQDO
FODVVLILFDWLRQ LQ VXPPDU\ UHFRUGV ,Q DGGLWLRQ FRQWURO DFWLYLWLHV KHOS WR HQVXUH WKDW DOO WUDQVDFWLRQV DUH
FRPSOHWHO\ DQG DFFXUDWHO\ UHFRUGHG´ ,W DOVR VWDWHV ³,QWHUQDO FRQWURO DQG DOO WUDQVDFWLRQV DQG RWKHU
VLJQLILFDQW HYHQWV QHHG WR EH FOHDUO\ GRFXPHQWHGDQG WKH GRFXPHQWDWLRQ VKRXOG EH UHDGLO\ DYDLODEOH IRU
H[DPLQDWLRQ´
7KH )XQG GLG QRW KDYH D SURFHVV WR UHJXODUO\ DVVHVV DQG GRFXPHQW KRZ FKDQJHV LQ RSHUDWLRQV RU
FLUFXPVWDQFHVPD\UHTXLUHPRGLILFDWLRQWRRUGHYHORSPHQWRIVSHFLILFDUWLFXODWHGSROLFLHVDQGSURFHGXUHV
6XFK GRFXPHQWDWLRQ ZRXOG GHVFULEH WKH DFFRXQWLQJ PRGHOV LH UHFRJQLWLRQ PHDVXUHPHQW DQG
LPSDLUPHQW IRUWKHYDULHW\RILQYHVWPHQWVWKDWWKH)XQGFXUUHQWO\KROGVDQGZLOOKROGLQWKHIXWXUH
7KH)XQGDOVRGLGQRWKDYHSROLFLHV DQGSURFHGXUHVLQ SODFHWR HQVXUH LQYHVWPHQWV WKDWZHUH ZULWWHQRII
ZHUHFRPPXQLFDWHGWRWKH$GPLQLVWUDWLYH5HVRXUFH&HQWHURIWKH%XUHDXRIWKH3XEOLF'HEW $5&%3' 
LQDWLPHO\PDQQHU7KH$5&%3'LVUHVSRQVLEOHIRUHQWHULQJWUDQVDFWLRQVLQWRWKH)XQG¶VJHQHUDOOHGJHU
'XHWRWKHGHILFLHQFLHVQRWHGDERYHFHUWDLQLQYHVWPHQWVRIWKHIXQGZHUHQRWDFFRXQWHGIRULQFRPSOLDQFH
ZLWK86JHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOHV,QDGGLWLRQZLWKRXWHIIHFWLYHSROLFLHVDQGSURFHGXUHV
LQ SODFH WKHUH LV DQ LQFUHDVHG ULVN RI PDWHULDO PLVVWDWHPHQWV WR WKH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV DQG UHODWHG
GLVFORVXUHV
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([KLELW,
5HFRPPHQGDWLRQV
:HUHFRPPHQGWKDWPDQDJHPHQWRIWKH)XQGSHUIRUPWKHIROORZLQJ
 'HYHORSDQGLPSOHPHQWUREXVWIRUPDOSROLFLHVDQGSURFHGXUHVWRHQVXUHWKDWDOOLQYHVWPHQWW\SHVDUH
DSSURSULDWHO\ UHFRJQL]HG YDOXHG DQG HYDOXDWHG IRU SRWHQWLDO RWKHUWKDQWHPSRUDU\ LPSDLUPHQW EDVHG
RQ WKH W\SH RI LQYHVWPHQW DQG WKDW DOO WUDQVDFWLRQV DSSURYHG E\ PDQDJHPHQW DUH SURSHUO\
FRPPXQLFDWHGWRWKH$5&%3'LQDWLPHO\PDQQHU
 3HULRGLFDOO\ UHFRQFLOH WKH GHWDLOHG LQYHVWPHQW VFKHGXOH PDLQWDLQHG E\ $5&%'3 WR LWV LQYHVWPHQW
SURJUDP ILOHV WR HQVXUH WKDW DOO DSSURYHG WUDQVDFWLRQV KDYH EHHQ UHFRUGHG 7KH GHWDLOHG LQYHVWPHQW
VFKHGXOHVKRXOGWKHQEHUHFRQFLOHGWRWKHJHQHUDOOHGJHU
,PSURYHPHQWVDUHQHHGHGLQWKHSUHSDUDWLRQDQGUHYLHZRIWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
'XULQJDOORIILVFDO\HDUWKH)XQGGLGQRWKDYHVXIILFLHQWO\WKRURXJKILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJSURFHGXUHV
LQFOXGLQJSODQQLQJDQGVFRSLQJFRQVLGHUDWLRQRIQHZGLIIHUHQW EXVLQHVVWUDQVDFWLRQV WKDW PD\RULQ IDFW
GLGUHTXLUHQHZRUGLIIHUHQWPHDVXUHPHQWDQGGLVFORVXUH 86JHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOHV
*$$3  DUH G\QDPLF WR DGGUHVV WRGD\¶V FRQVWDQWO\ HYROYLQJ EXVLQHVV HQYLURQPHQW ,Q WKH UHFHQW SDVW LW
KDV EHFRPH PRUH FULWLFDO IRU PDQDJHPHQW WR GHYHORS SURFHVVHV WKDW ZLOO DVVLVW WKHP LQ LGHQWLI\LQJ DQG
LPSOHPHQWLQJQHZDFFRXQWLQJVWDQGDUGVRULGHQWLI\LQJWKHDSSURSULDWH*$$3IRUQHZEXVLQHVVFRQGLWLRQV
)$6%$6&6HFWLRQVWDWHV³,QIRUPDWLRQDERXWWKHDFFRXQWLQJSROLFLHVDGRSWHGE\DQHQWLW\LV
HVVHQWLDO IRU ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQW XVHUV :KHQ ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV WKDW DUH LVVXHG RU DUH DYDLODEOH WR EH
LVVXHG WR SUHVHQW IDLUO\ ILQDQFLDO SRVLWLRQ FDVK IORZV DQG UHVXOWV RI RSHUDWLRQV LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK
JHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOHV *$$3 DGHVFULSWLRQRIDOOVLJQLILFDQWDFFRXQWLQJSROLFLHVRIWKH
HQWLW\VKDOOEHLQFOXGHGDVDQLQWHJUDOSDUWRIWKHILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV,QFLUFXPVWDQFHVZKHUH LW PD\ EH
DSSURSULDWHWRLVVXHRQHRUPRUHRIWKHEDVLFILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVZLWKRXWWKHRWKHUVSXUSRUWLQJWRSUHVHQW
IDLUO\ WKH LQIRUPDWLRQ JLYHQ LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK *$$3 VWDWHPHQWV VR SUHVHQWHG DOVR VKDOO LQFOXGH
GLVFORVXUHRIWKHSHUWLQHQWDFFRXQWLQJSROLFLHV´
)$6%6HFWLRQ$6&VWDWHV³'LVFORVXUHRIDFFRXQWLQJSROLFLHVVKDOOLGHQWLI\DQGGHVFULEHWKH
DFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOHVIROORZHGE\WKHHQWLW\DQGWKHPHWKRGVRIDSSO\LQJWKRVHSULQFLSOHVWKDWPDWHULDOO\
DIIHFWWKHGHWHUPLQDWLRQRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQFDVKIORZVRUUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQV´
7KH )XQG¶V PDQDJHPHQW FRQGXFWHG D UHYLHZ SURFHVV ZLWK UHVSHFW WR ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQW GLVFORVXUHV
LQYROYLQJSHUVRQQHOZLWKLQWKHILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJJURXSDQGFHUWDLQVHQLRUVWDIIWKDWZDVUHWURVSHFWLYHDQG
WKXVE\QDWXUHUHDFWLYH:KLOHWKLVW\SHRIUHYLHZPD\EHHIIHFWLYHLQWKHLGHQWLILFDWLRQRIFHUWDLQW\SHVRI
HUURUVWKRVHUHYLHZHUVODFNLQJDVWURQJNQRZOHGJHRI*$$3DQGRUDUHZLWKRXWDµEXVLQHVVXQGHUVWDQGLQJ¶
RI WKH WUDQVDFWLRQV PD\ IDLO WR GHWHFW RPLVVLRQV RU PLVVWDWHPHQWV )XUWKHU DV VXFK D UHYLHZ ZDV ODUJHO\
UHWURVSHFWLYHLWFRPSUHVVHGWKHWLPHIRUWKRURXJKDQDO\VLVLQWRWKHVKRUWSHULRGWKDWHODSVHGEHWZHHQWKH
ILVFDO\HDUHQGDQGWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWGHOLYHU\GDWH
'XH WR WKH GHILFLHQF\ LQ WKH ILQDQFLDO UHSRUWLQJ SURFHVV VHYHUDO LWHPV LQ WKH )XQG¶V LQLWLDO \HDUHQG
ILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVZHUHLPSURSHUO\SUHVHQWHGDQGRUGLVFORVHG,QDGGLWLRQFHUWDLQUHTXLUHGGLVFORVXUHV
UHODWHGWRSROLFLHVDQGSURFHGXUHVRIWKH)XQGZHUHQRWLQFOXGHGLQWKHQRWHVWRWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
0DQDJHPHQW ZDV DEOH WR FRUUHFW WKH HUURUVRPLVVLRQV LQ WKHLU ILQDO 6HSWHPEHU   ILQDQFLDO
VWDWHPHQWV
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([KLELW,
5HFRPPHQGDWLRQV
:HUHFRPPHQGWKDWPDQDJHPHQWRIWKH)XQGSHUIRUPWKHIROORZLQJ
 'HYHORS DQG LPSOHPHQW FRPSUHKHQVLYH SROLFLHV DQG SURFHGXUHV WR HQVXUH WKDW DOO HYHQWV DQG
WUDQVDFWLRQV WKDW RFFXU WKURXJKRXW WKH \HDU DUH DSSURSULDWHO\ SUHVHQWHG RU GLVFORVHG LQ WKH ILQDQFLDO
VWDWHPHQW
 3URYLGHWUDLQLQJWRWKHDSSURSULDWHSHUVRQQHOWRIDFLOLWDWHEHWWHUXQGHUVWDQGLQJDQGDSSOLFDWLRQRI86
JHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOHVLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWK)$6%
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([KLELW,,
&RPPXQLW\'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO,QVWLWXWLRQ)XQG
0DQDJHPHQW¶V5HVSRQVHWR6LJQLILFDQW'HILFLHQFLHVDQG5HFRPPHQGDWLRQV
,PSURYHPHQWVDUHQHHGHGLQWKHDFFRXQWLQJSURFHVVIRUHVWLPDWLQJORDQORVVUHVHUYHV
0DQDJHPHQW¶V5HVSRQVH
7KH&'),)XQGFRQFXUVZLWKWKLVILQGLQJ7KH&'),)XQGFRQFOXGHGWKDWPRVWRIWKHORDQDZDUGHHVDUH
SHUIRUPLQJ DV UHTXLUHG DQG DUH VHUYLQJ WKHLU FRPPXQLWLHV E\ H[SDQGLQJ WKH DYDLODELOLW\ RI FUHGLW
LQYHVWPHQW FDSLWDO LQ GLVWUHVVHG XUEDQ DQG UXUDO FRPPXQLWLHV +RZHYHU PDQDJHPHQW DJUHHV WKH
UHFRPPHQGDWLRQVVXJJHVWHGE\.30*ZLOOLPSURYHWKH&'),)XQG¶VDELOLW\WRHVWLPDWHWKHDOORZDQFHIRU
ORDQORVVDVZHOODVGHWHUPLQLQJWKHLPSDFWRIORDQUHVWUXFWXULQJ
,Q-XQHWKH&'),)XQGEHJDQLPSOHPHQWLQJDQDQDO\VLVSURFHVVWKDWLQFOXGHGDORDQE\ORDQUHYLHZ
XVLQJ NH\ ILQDQFLDO UDWLRV IURP WKH DZDUGHHV¶ PRVW UHFHQW DXGLWHG ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV 7KLV DQDO\VLV
UHVXOWHG LQ D VSHFLILF GROODU HVWLPDWH RI DOORZDQFH QHFHVVDU\ IRU )<  UDWKHU WKDQ WKH  EODQNHW
DOORZDQFHXVHGLQSULRU\HDUVWKXVFRPSO\LQJZLWK)$6%$6&7KLVDQDO\VLVZLOOFRQWLQXHLQWR
IXWXUH\HDUV
7KH&'),)XQGZLOOZRUNZLWKWKH2IILFHRI)LQDQFLDO0DQDJHPHQW 2)0 DQGWKH%XUHDXRI3XEOLF'HEW
%3' WRGHYHORSDORDQVXEOHGJHUV\VWHPE\0DUFK7KH&'),)XQGZLOOFRRUGLQDWHZLWK2)0
DQG%3'WRLPSOHPHQWSURFHGXUHVWRXVHWKLVVXEOHGJHUV\VWHPWRHYDOXDWHUHFRQFLOHSD\PHQWVLGHQWLI\
SDVWGXHGHOLQTXHQWORDQVDQGFDWHJRUL]HWKHPLQWRULVNFDWHJRULHV7KH&'),)XQGHVWLPDWHVWKDWRI
LWVORDQSRUWIROLRZLOOEHUHFRUGHGLQWKHVXEOHGJHUV\VWHPE\-XQH
7KHVHSURFHGXUHVZLOOUHVXOWLQDGGLWLRQDOGDWDWREHXVHGLQFRQMXQFWLRQZLWKWKHORDQDQDO\VLVGHVFULEHG
DERYHWKXVIXUWKHULPSURYLQJWKHSURFHVVWKH&'),)XQGEHJDQLPSOHPHQWLQJLQ-XQH
,PSURYHPHQWVDUHQHHGHGLQWKHDFFRXQWLQJIRULQYHVWPHQWV
0DQDJHPHQW¶V5HVSRQVH
7KH&'),)XQGFRQFXUVZLWKUHFRPPHQGDWLRQQXPEHURQH$VRI6HSWHPEHUWKH&'),)XQGKDV
DGMXVWHG WKH DFFRXQWLQJ WUHDWPHQW IRU LQYHVWPHQWV ,QYHVWPHQWV DUH FXUUHQWO\ DSSURSULDWHO\ UHFRJQL]HG
YDOXHGDQGKDYHEHHQHYDOXDWHGIRUSRWHQWLDORWKHUWKDQWHPSRUDU\LPSDLUPHQWVEDVHGRQLQYHVWPHQWW\SH
7KH&'),)XQGZLOOFRQWLQXHWKHDSSURSULDWHDFFRXQWLQJWUHDWPHQWJRLQJIRUZDUGDQGZLOOGHYHORSIRUPDO
SROLFLHVDQGSURFHGXUHVE\-DQXDU\WRHQVXUHWKH&'),)XQG%3'$5&DQG2)0DUHDZDUHRI
WKHDSSURSULDWHLQYHVWPHQWPHWKRGRORJ\DQGSUDFWLFHV
7KH &'), )XQG FRQFXUV ZLWK UHFRPPHQGDWLRQ QXPEHU WZR &KDQJHV WR LQYHVWPHQW DZDUGV RFFXU YHU\
LQIUHTXHQWO\6WDUWLQJLQ)<WKH&'),)XQGZLOOQRWLI\%3'$5&RIDQ\FKDQJHVWRWKHLQYHVWPHQWV
VWDWXV DPHQGPHQWUHGHPSWLRQ VR WKDW%3'$5&FDQ XSGDWHWKH LQYHVWPHQWVFKHGXOHLWPDLQWDLQV 7KH
UHTXLUHPHQWIRUQRWLILFDWLRQWR%3'$5&RIDSSURYHGFKDQJHVWRWKHLQYHVWPHQWVDQGRULQYHVWHHVZLOOEH
LQFOXGHGLQWKHDZDUGDPHQGPHQWSROLFLHVDQGSURFHGXUHVXQGHUGHYHORSPHQW,QDGGLWLRQWKH&'),)XQG
ZLOOUHYLHZWKHLQYHVWPHQWVFKHGXOHSURYLGHGDQGPDLQWDLQE\%3'±$5&RQDPRQWKO\EDVLV
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([KLELW,,
,PSURYHPHQWVDUHQHHGHGLQWKHSUHSDUDWLRQDQGUHYLHZRIWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
0DQDJHPHQW¶V5HVSRQVH
7KH&'),)XQGFRQFXUVZLWKUHFRPPHQGDWLRQQXPEHURQH7KH&'),)XQGZLOOUHYLHZLWVFXUUHQWSROLFLHV
DQG SURFHGXUHV DQG ZRUN ZLWK 2)0 DQG %3' WR HVWDEOLVK DGGLWLRQDO SROLFLHV DQG SURFHGXUHV ZKHUH
QHFHVVDU\ WR HQVXUH DOO SRWHQWLDO HYHQWV DQG WUDQVDFWLRQV WKDW FRXOG RFFXU WKURXJKRXW WKH \HDU DUH
DSSURSULDWHO\SUHVHQWHGRUGLVFORVHGLQWKHILQDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
7KH &'), )XQG FRQFXUV ZLWK UHFRPPHQGDWLRQ QXPEHU WZR 7KH &'), )XQG ZLOO HQVXUH WKDW DGGLWLRQDO
WUDLQLQJ LV SURYLGHG WR WKH DSSURSULDWH SHUVRQQHO WR IDFLOLWDWH EHWWHU XQGHUVWDQGLQJ DQG DSSOLFDWLRQ RI
JHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGDFFRXQWLQJSULQFLSOHVLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWK)$6%
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([KLELW,,,
&RPPXQLW\'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO,QVWLWXWLRQ)XQG
6WDWXVRI3ULRU<HDU)LQGLQJV

)LVFDO<HDU)LQGLQJ

'HILFLHQF\7\SH

)LVFDO<HDU
6WDWXV



,PSURYHPHQWVQHHGHGLQPDQDJHPHQW
FRPPXQLFDWLRQ

6LJQLILFDQW'HILFLHQF\

&ORVHG



,PSURYHPHQWVQHHGHGLQFRQWUROVRYHU
DZDUGVPRQLWRULQJ

6LJQLILFDQW'HILFLHQF\

&ORVHG
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.30*//3
06WUHHW1:
:DVKLQJWRQ'&

,QGHSHQGHQW$XGLWRUV¶5HSRUWRQ&RPSOLDQFHDQG2WKHU0DWWHUV
,QVSHFWRU*HQHUDO
86'HSDUWPHQWRIWKH7UHDVXU\
'LUHFWRU
&RPPXQLW\'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO,QVWLWXWLRQV)XQG
:HKDYHDXGLWHGWKHVWDWHPHQWVRIILQDQFLDOSRVLWLRQRIWKH86'HSDUWPHQWRIWKH7UHDVXU\¶V&RPPXQLW\
'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO ,QVWLWXWLRQV )XQG WKH )XQG DV RI 6HSWHPEHU DQG  DQG WKH UHODWHG
VWDWHPHQWVRIRSHUDWLRQVDQGFKDQJHVLQQHWSRVLWLRQDQGFDVKIORZV KHUHLQDIWHUUHIHUUHGWRDV³)LQDQFLDO
6WDWHPHQWV´  IRU WKH \HDU HQGHG 6HSWHPEHU   DQG KDYH LVVXHG RXU UHSRUW WKHUHRQ GDWHG
1RYHPEHU  :H ZHUH QRW HQJDJHG WR DXGLW WKH VWDWHPHQWV RI RSHUDWLRQV DQG FKDQJHV LQ QHW
SRVLWLRQ DQG FDVK IORZV IRU WKH \HDU HQGHG 6HSWHPEHU   DQG WKHUHIRUH ZH GLG QRW H[SUHVV DQ
RSLQLRQ RQ WKRVH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV $V GLVFXVVHG LQ 1RWH  WR WKH )LQDQFLDO 6WDWHPHQWV WKH )XQG
DGRSWHGWKHSURYLVLRQVRIWKH)LQDQFLDO$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGV%RDUG¶V$FFRXQWLQJ6WDQGDUGV&RGLILFDWLRQ
7RSLF)DLU9DOXH0HDVXUHPHQWVDQG'LVFORVXUHVHIIHFWLYH2FWREHU
:HFRQGXFWHGRXUDXGLWVLQDFFRUGDQFHZLWKDXGLWLQJVWDQGDUGVJHQHUDOO\DFFHSWHGLQWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVRI
$PHULFDWKHVWDQGDUGVDSSOLFDEOHWRILQDQFLDODXGLWVFRQWDLQHGLQ*RYHUQPHQW$XGLWLQJ6WDQGDUGVLVVXHG
E\WKH&RPSWUROOHU*HQHUDORIWKH8QLWHG6WDWHVDQG2IILFHRI0DQDJHPHQWDQG%XGJHW 20% %XOOHWLQ
1R$XGLW5HTXLUHPHQWVIRU)HGHUDO)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWVDVDPHQGHG7KRVHVWDQGDUGVDQG20%
%XOOHWLQ1RUHTXLUHWKDWZHSODQDQGSHUIRUPWKHDXGLWWRREWDLQUHDVRQDEOHDVVXUDQFHDERXWZKHWKHU
WKH)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWVDUHIUHHRIPDWHULDOPLVVWDWHPHQW
7KH PDQDJHPHQW RI WKH )XQG LV UHVSRQVLEOH IRU FRPSO\LQJ ZLWK ODZV UHJXODWLRQV FRQWUDFWV DQG JUDQW
DJUHHPHQWV DSSOLFDEOH WR WKH )XQG $V SDUW RI REWDLQLQJ UHDVRQDEOH DVVXUDQFH DERXW ZKHWKHU WKH )XQG¶V
)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWVDUHIUHHRIPDWHULDOPLVVWDWHPHQWZHSHUIRUPHGWHVWVRIWKH)XQG¶VFRPSOLDQFHZLWK
FHUWDLQSURYLVLRQVRIODZVUHJXODWLRQVFRQWUDFWVDQGJUDQWDJUHHPHQWVQRQFRPSOLDQFHZLWKZKLFKFRXOG
KDYH D GLUHFW DQG PDWHULDO HIIHFW RQ WKH GHWHUPLQDWLRQ RI WKH ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQW DPRXQWV DQG FHUWDLQ
SURYLVLRQV RI RWKHU ODZV DQG UHJXODWLRQV VSHFLILHG LQ 20% %XOOHWLQ 1R  :H OLPLWHG RXU WHVWV RI
FRPSOLDQFHWRWKHSURYLVLRQVGHVFULEHGLQWKHSUHFHGLQJVHQWHQFHDQGZHGLGQRWWHVWFRPSOLDQFHZLWKDOO
ODZVUHJXODWLRQVFRQWUDFWVDQGJUDQWDJUHHPHQWVDSSOLFDEOHWRWKH)XQG+RZHYHUSURYLGLQJDQRSLQLRQ
RQFRPSOLDQFHZLWKWKRVHSURYLVLRQVZDVQRWDQREMHFWLYHRIRXUDXGLWDQGDFFRUGLQJO\ZHGRQRWH[SUHVV
VXFKDQRSLQLRQ
7KH UHVXOWV RI RXU WHVWV RI FRPSOLDQFH GHVFULEHG LQ WKH SUHFHGLQJ SDUDJUDSK RI WKLV UHSRUW GLVFORVHG QR
LQVWDQFHV RI QRQFRPSOLDQFH RU RWKHU PDWWHUV WKDW DUH UHTXLUHG WR EH UHSRUWHG KHUHLQ XQGHU *RYHUQPHQW
$XGLWLQJ6WDQGDUGVRU20%%XOOHWLQ1R
7KLVUHSRUWLVLQWHQGHGVROHO\IRUWKHLQIRUPDWLRQDQGXVHRIWKH)XQG¶VPDQDJHPHQWWKH'HSDUWPHQWRIWKH
7UHDVXU\¶V2IILFHRI,QVSHFWRU*HQHUDO 20%WKH86 *RYHUQPHQW$FFRXQWDELOLW\2IILFH DQGWKH86
&RQJUHVVDQGLVQRWLQWHQGHGWREHDQGVKRXOGQRWEHXVHGE\DQ\RQHRWKHUWKDQWKHVHVSHFLILHGSDUWLHV

1RYHPEHU


.30*//3D86OLPLWHGOLDELOLW\SDUWQHUVKLSLVWKH86
PHPEHUILUPRI.30*,QWHUQDWLRQDOD6ZLVVFRRSHUDWLYH
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)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV
DQG1RWHV

41
&'),)XQG)<3HUIRUPDQFHDQG$FFRXQWDELOLW\5HSRUW
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&RPPXQLW\'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO,QVWLWXWLRQV)XQG
6WDWHPHQWVRI)LQDQFLDO3RVLWLRQ
$VRI6HSWHPEHUDQG


$VVHWV
)XQG%DODQFHZLWK7UHDVXU\ 1RWH 
$GYDQFHVDQGSUHSD\PHQWV
/RDQVUHFHLYDEOHQHWRIDOORZDQFHIRUEDG
GHEWVRI LQDQGLQ 1RWH 
,QYHVWPHQWVDPRUWL]HGFRVW 1RWH 
,QYHVWPHQWVHTXLW\DQGFRVWPHWKRG 1RWHVDQG 
,QWHUHVWUHFHLYDEOH
,QWHUQDOXVHVRIWZDUHQHWRIDFFXPXODWHGDPRUWL]DWLRQRI
LQDQGLQ
,QWHUQDOXVHVRIWZDUHLQGHYHORSPHQW
7RWDODVVHWV































































/LDELOLWLHVDQG1HW3RVLWLRQ
$FFRXQWVSD\DEOH
$ZDUGVSD\DEOH
$FFUXHGSD\UROO
$FFUXHGDQQXDOOHDYH
'HEW 1RWH 
7RWDOOLDELOLWLHV
&RPPLWPHQWV 1RWH 
8QH[SHQGHGDSSURSULDWLRQV 1RWH 
&XPXODWLYHUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQV
7RWDOQHWSRVLWLRQ
7RWDOOLDELOLWLHVDQGQHWSRVLWLRQ



7KHDFFRPSDQ\LQJQRWHVDUHDQLQWHJUDOSDUWRIWKHVHVWDWHPHQWV
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&RPPXQLW\'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO,QVWLWXWLRQV)XQG
6WDWHPHQWVRI2SHUDWLRQVDQG&KDQJHVLQ1HW3RVLWLRQ
<HDUV(QGHG6HSWHPEHUDQG


5HYHQXHDQGRWKHULQFRPH
$SSURSULDWLRQV
,PSXWHGRWKHULQFRPHH[SHQVHVSDLGE\RWKHUV 1RWH 
,QWHUHVWQRQIHGHUDO
,QWHUHVWIHGHUDO
'LYLGHQGV



8QDXGLWHG






























7RWDORSHUDWLQJH[SHQVHV





7UHDVXU\ERUURZLQJLQWHUHVW
,PSDLUPHQWORVVHV
(TXLW\LQORVVRIDVVRFLDWHV

































7RWDOUHYHQXHDQGRWKHULQFRPH
([SHQVHV
&'),JUDQWV
%($JUDQWV
$GPLQLVWUDWLYHH[SHQVH 1RWH 
5HYHUVDORIEDGGHEWH[SHQVH
$GPLQLVWUDWLYHH[SHQVHVSDLGE\RWKHUV 1RWH 

7RWDOH[SHQVHV
1HWORVV 1RWH 
&XPXODWLYHUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVEHJLQQLQJRI\HDU
1HWORVV
&XPXODWLYHUHVXOWVRIRSHUDWLRQVHQGRI\HDU

7KHDFFRPSDQ\LQJQRWHVDUHDQLQWHJUDOSDUWRIWKHVHVWDWHPHQWV
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&RPPXQLW\'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLDO,QVWLWXWLRQV)XQG
6WDWHPHQWVRI&DVK)ORZV
<HDUV(QGHG6HSWHPEHUDQG

&DVKIORZVIURPRSHUDWLQJDFWLYLWLHV
1HWORVV
$GMXVWPHQWVWRUHFRQFLOHQHWORVVWRQHWFDVKXVHGLQRSHUDWLRQV
,PSDLUPHQWORVVHV
(TXLW\LQORVVRIDVVRFLDWHV
$PRUWL]DWLRQH[SHQVH
$FFUHWLRQRIGLVFRXQW
5HYHUVDORIEDGGHEWH[SHQVH
&KDQJHLQDVVHWVDQGOLDELOLWLHV
'HFUHDVH LQFUHDVH LQDGYDQFHVDQGSUHSD\PHQWV
'HFUHDVH LQFUHDVH LQLQWHUHVWUHFHLYDEOH
'HFUHDVHLQRWKHUUHFHLYDEOH
,QFUHDVH GHFUHDVH LQDFFRXQWVSD\DEOHDQGDFFUXHGSD\UROO
,QFUHDVH GHFUHDVH LQDZDUGVSD\DEOH
,QFUHDVHLQDFFUXHGDQQXDOOHDYH






























































1HWFDVKSURYLGHGE\ILQDQFLQJDFWLYLWLHV





1HWFKDQJHLQ)XQGEDODQFHZLWK7UHDVXU\













1HWFDVK XVHGLQ SURYLGHGE\RSHUDWLQJDFWLYLWLHV
&DVKIORZVIURPLQYHVWLQJDFWLYLWLHV
3URFHHGVIURPGLVSRVLWLRQRILQYHVWPHQWV
,QYHVWPHQWVLQDZDUGHHV
$FTXLVLWLRQRILQWHUQDOXVHVRIWZDUH
/RDQVGLVEXUVHG
&ROOHFWLRQRIORDQSULQFLSDO
1HWFDVKSURYLGHGE\LQYHVWLQJDFWLYLWLHV
&DVKIORZVIURPILQDQFLQJDFWLYLWLHV
,QFUHDVHLQXQH[SHQGHGDSSURSULDWLRQVQHW
%RUURZLQJVIURP7UHDVXU\
/RDQSD\PHQWVWR7UHDVXU\

)XQGEDODQFHZLWK7UHDVXU\EHJLQQLQJRI\HDU
)XQGEDODQFHZLWK7UHDVXU\HQGRI\HDU



7KHDFFRPSDQ\LQJQRWHVDUHDQLQWHJUDOSDUWRIWKHVHVWDWHPHQWV
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